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2010
statistics at a glance

 
27 new medical 
device organisations 
registered

 
5 successful 
prosecutions were 
taken in relation to 
breaches of medicinal 
product regulations

 
3,202 suspected 
adverse reactions 
associated with 
the use of human 
medicines received 
and assessed

 
420 adverts 
individually reviewed 
following first 
full year of the 
IMB’s advertising 
compliance 
programme

 
1,795 new  
human medicine 
applications

 
209 reports of 
suspected adverse 
reactions associated 
with use of veterinary 
medicines

 
10% increase in the 
number of national 
inspections and audits 
performed

 
387 new notifications 
to the IMB medical 
devices register

 
676 field safety 
corrective action 
notifications 
impacting on the  
Irish market

 
80% of all licensing 
applications received 
electronically

The Irish Medicines Board’s role is to protect  

and enhance public and animal health  

through the regulation of medicines,  

medical devices and healthcare products.
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98 applications to 
conduct clinical trials 
approved

 
26% increase in the 
number of medical 
devices vigilance 
reports received

 
73% of Irish adults 
read product 
information before 
taking a prescription 
medicine for the  
first time

 
23% increase in the 
number of exempt 
medicinal products 
packs notified to  
the IMB

 
168 medicines 
recalled due to  
quality defects

 
78% of Irish adults 
would accept a 
generic medicine if it 
were offered to them 
by their doctor or 
pharmacist

 
2,210 veterinary 
medicine applications 
processed

 
3,936 new 
enforcement cases 
resulting from the 
Illegal manufacture, 
supply and sale of 
medicines or medical 
devices

 
8 Lean Six Sigma 
projects implemented 
aimed at reducing the 
regulatory burden  
for stakeholders

 
113 manufacturing 
licences in place at 
year end for human 
and veterinary 
medicines

 
66% increase in the 
number of dosage 
units of medicines 
detained by 
enforcement staff

 
8 information days 
held providing 
regulatory guidance 
and updates to 
stakeholders
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device safety. Medicines and medical devices provide 
significant benefits for those that require them.  
However, there are inherent side effects or some risk of 
adverse reactions or incidents with all healthcare products. 
Ultimately, the IMB applies its expert knowledge and 
uses national and EU cumulative data as well as active 
monitoring of all products to ensure that people have 
access only to products with a positive benefit/risk profile. 
This means that following assessment it is considered  
that the benefits of the product outweigh the risks.  
The assessment of a medicines safety profile can change 
over time as further data on usage or other factors 
become available. Accordingly, regulatory action is taken 
to protect public health as appropriate. In this regard, 
the IMB suspended the authorisations for sibutramine 
and rosigilitazone containing products in Ireland in 2010 
following reviews which showed that the benefits of 
these products no longer outweighed the risks posed. 
As a result, all sibutramine and rosigilitazone containing 
products were suspended in all the EU member states. 
As a part of our safety monitoring role in 2010, the IMB 
investigated over 3,200 individual adverse reactions 
reports in relation to human medicines, over 200 adverse 
reports for veterinary medicines and over 1,600 vigilance 
reports for medical devices. 

An important part of the IMB’s regulatory function is  
to ensure compliance. This requires monitoring for  
quality defects, inspecting manufacturing sites, as well  

This report details the IMB’s activities in 2010 which 
demonstrate its important role in the national healthcare 
arena. Our primary objective is to safeguard public and 
animal health by regulating the healthcare product 
sectors across the entire product lifecycle from clinical 
trials, through manufacturing, to marketing, distribution 
and use by patients and animal owners. Underpinning 
all activity is our core focus on effective regulation, 
whilst utilising the best medical and scientific knowledge 
available to inform decisions and policies that ultimately 
benefit public health. 

Our role is comprehensive, acting as the competent 
authority for the regulation of human and veterinary 
medicines, medical devices, tissues and cells and blood 
products. In 2010, the IMB’s role and remit was also 
expanded to incorporate the regulation of cosmetic 
products in Ireland.

Almost 20,000 applications were assessed and processed 
for human medicines in 2010 with some 2,210 assessed 
and processed for veterinary medicines. These included 
new applications, variations, renewals or alterations to 
existing medicines. Each application is reviewed and 
assessed in accordance with safety, quality and efficacy 
criteria. 

In line with our primary function of protecting and 
enhancing public and animal health, there remains the 
need for robust monitoring of medicine and medical 

It gives me pleasure to submit our annual report for 2010. The year in review saw an increase in activity across each of  

our departments in tandem with an increase in the role and remit of the organisation.  The significant increases in outputs 

were attained in an unprecedented economic environment in terms of the challenges and pressures that have been 

brought to bear on all sectors. It is heartening to state that the Irish Medicines Board staff response was one of rigour, 

professionalism and delivery across all areas of operation.

Chairman’s Statement
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On behalf of the Board, I thank the Minister for Health 
and Children and the Minister for Agriculture, Fisheries 
and Food as well as their executives and staff  for their 
continued support of the IMB and its activities. 

The IMB is a unique organisation which boasts highly 
skilled and experienced scientists and healthcare 
professionals who make important, independent 
decisions to protect public and animal health. It has 
been an honour and pleasure to serve as its Chairman. 
I would like to thank the Chief Executive for his continued 
support during my tenure and to extend every good wish 
to my successor Mr. Michael Hayes for his term of offi  ce. 

Mr. Pat O’Mahony

Chairman

as carrying out surveillance to curtail illegal activity.
In 2010, over 3,900 new enforcement cases were 
initiated. Some 822,000 medicine dosage units were 
detained – an increase of 66% as compared to with 2009. 
Of particular note, was the success of Operation PANGEA 
which is an international week of action in relation to the 
use of the internet to source medicines. During this week 
in October 2010, the IMB seized over 250,000 counterfeit 
or illegal tablets and capsules. The success of our ongoing 
eff orts in this area is due to the highly eff ective working 
relationship the IMB has with An Garda Síochána and the 
Revenue Customs Service with whom we partner for this 
operation. This will continue to be an area of signifi cant 
attention for the IMB in the future as we are seeing an 
increase in the use of the internet to source prescription 
medicines – whilst it is illegal, the more signifi cant issue 
is the serious risk it poses to public health as there is no 
guarantee of the safety or quality of any of the products 
emanating via the internet.

This year involved a tremendous commitment from 
our staff  and management, with increased outputs and 
activities across all departments. Their diligence and 
positive work ethic is to be commended.  

I would like to also thank my fellow Board members 
for their dedication and time. In particular, I extend my 
gratitude for their work in relation to the IMB’s strategic 
plan for 2011-2015 which was endorsed by the Board and 
sets out the goals and ambitions for organisation for the 
next fi ve year period. 

UNDERPINNING ALL ACTIVITY IS OUR CORE FOCUS ON EFFECTIVE 
REGULATION WHILST UTILISING THE BEST MEDICAL AND 
SCIENTIFIC kNOWLEDGE AVAILABLE TO INFORM DECISIONS AND 
POLICIES THAT ULTIMATELY BENEFIT PUBLIC HEALTH.

Mr. Pat O’Mahony 

Chairman
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The Board members are:

1 Mr. Pat O’Mahony (Chairman) 
Business and Banking Consultant

2 Prof. Brendan Buckley  
Clinical Professor  
of Pharmacology,  
University College Cork

3 Mr. Pat Brangan  
Senior Veterinary Inspector, 
Department of Agriculture, 
Fisheries and Food

4 Mr. Wilfred Higgins  
Principal Engineering Advisor, 
Health Service Executive 

5 Ms. Ingrid Hook  
Senior Lecturer, School of 
Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical 
Sciences, Trinity College

6 Mr. Brendan McLaughlin  
Farmer and Elected Board Director 
in the Management Committee 
of ICSA

7 Ms. Cicely Roche  
Senior Lecturer TCD and 
Consultant Pharmacist

8 Ms. Maureen Windle  
Practitioner in Public Sector 
Healthcare Management

The Board of the IMB was appointed 
on 31 December 2005 by the then 
Minister for Health and Children,  
Ms. Mary Harney in accordance with 
the powers conferred on her by 
subsection 2 of section 7 of the Irish 
Medicines Board Act, 1995 for the 
period ending 31 December 2010.

IMB Board Members

18

2 5 4 7 6

3
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IMB Management Committee

CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Mr. Pat O’Mahony

DIRECTOR OF FINANCE 
AND CORPORATE AFFAIRS

Ms. Rita Purcell

SENIOR SCIENTIFIC ADVISOR

Dr. Mike Morris

DIRECTOR OF INFORMATION 
TECHNOLOGY & CHANGE 
MANAGEMENT

Ms. Suzanne McDonald

DIRECTOR OF HUMAN RESOURCES

Ms. Frances Lynch

DIRECTOR OF HUMAN PRODUCTS
MONITORING

Dr. joan Gilvarry

DIRECTOR OF HUMAN PRODUCTS 
AUTHORISATION & REGISTRATION

Ms. Ann O’Connor

DIRECTOR OF VETERINARY 
MEDICINES
Dr. j.G. Beechinor

DIRECTOR OF COMPLIANCE

Mr. john Lynch
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2010 was the third year in succession where an increase 
in total output was recorded. Of the 19,709 outputs 
processed, 1,795 concerned new applications. 

•	 The	number	of	veterinary	medicine	applications	
processed in 2010 again increased year-on-year  
with input at its highest ever level. This was achieved 
through the implementation of a new system for 
processing variations applications and a new system 
to streamline and manage applications through the 
receipt, validation and assessment processes. The latter 
incorporates increased use of electronic submissions in 
addition to other process improvements. 

•	 In	tandem	with	our	role	in	medicine	authorisations,	
the IMB is responsible for the operation of a national 
medical device registration system incorporating 
class I, custom-made, in-vitro diagnostic devices and 
‘system & procedure’ packs. In 2010, there were 387 
new notifications to the medical devices register. 

•	 The	first	gene	therapy	trial	in	Ireland	for	patients	with	
the respiratory condition alpha-1 antitrypsin deficiency 
was approved by the IMB in December 2010. In total, 
98 applications to conduct clinical trials were approved 
by the IMB in 2010.

•	 During	2010,	three	applications	were	approved	to	
make non-CE marked medical devices available for 
use on compassionate grounds in the interest of the 
protection of public health.

PROTECTING PUBLIC AND ANIMAL HEALTH 

Throughout 2010, our core focus remained the effective 
regulation of healthcare products. We again collaborated 
with all stakeholders including patients, healthcare and 
animal health professionals, European and international 
colleagues, and the research and manufacturing 
industries, to maximise the availability of products that 
will have a positive impact on the health of patients. 

I would like to outline some of the most significant 
achievements and developments from 2010 that 
contributed directly to the protection of public and  
animal health.

Product Licensing and Authorisations

Authorisations and registration activity is a primary 
function of the IMB and 2010 was another busy and 
demanding year in this regard. We are committed to 
providing an effective and efficient regulatory framework 
that is focused on timely availability of healthcare 
products that meet the required standards of safety, 
quality and effectiveness. 

•	 During	2010,	the	total	number	of	applications	
processed and issued in human medicines exceeded 
the total number of applications received by the IMB 
from pharmaceutical companies. Applications relate 
to new medicines, variations or changes to existing 
medicines, and renewals processed by the IMB.  

Since the establishment of the Irish Medicines Board in 1996 as the national regulator of human and veterinary medicines, 

our remit has expanded considerably. In the intervening period, we have assumed responsibility for the regulation of 

medical devices, tissues and cells, and blood products. On 1 October 2010, there was yet another significant development 

for our organisation when we became the competent authority for cosmetic products in Ireland. As our remit continues to 

expand, our absolute commitment to the protection and enhancement of public and animal health remains steadfast.  

I am pleased to report that 2010 was another successful year in this regard.

Chief Executive’s Report
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reactions, or side eff ects, associated with the use 
of human medicines. During 2010, 3,202 reports 
were received and assessed by the IMB. This fi gure 
is consistent with 2009 when a substantial increase 
in reporting was recorded. Figures for both years 
include a signifi cant number of reports relating to 
the H1N1 fl u vaccines. In addition, IMB output in 
assessment of periodic safety update reports increased 
by 82% in 2010 to 4381, facilitated by departmental 
restructuring.

•	 The	IMB	also	monitors	the	safety	and	eff	ectiveness	
of veterinary medicines on an ongoing basis. In 
2010, we reviewed 209 reports of suspected adverse 
reactions associated with use of veterinary medicines, 
a 41% increase on the previous year. A total of 396 
periodic safety update reports relating to veterinary 
medicines were also evaluated. This fi gure compares 
to 254 evaluations in 2009.

•	 Post-market	surveillance	and	vigilance	is	also	a	critical	
element in protecting the health and safety of those 
who use medical devices. During 2010, 1678 vigilance 
reports were received and assessed resulting in an 
increase of 26% on the number of 2009 reports. 
This is the third year in succession that the reporting 
rate has increased. The IMB also received 1,218 fi eld 
safety corrective action notifi cations, 676 of which had 
a direct impact on the Irish market.

•	 During	2010,	the	IMB	suspended	the	Irish	marketing	
authorisations for all sibutramine-containing products 
and all rosiglitazone-containing products. In both 
cases, regulatory action followed a European review 
of new safety data which showed the benefi ts of these 
medicines no longer outweighed the risks. In the 
interests of public health, it was decided the products 
should be suspended across all EU member states. 

•	 The	IMB	operates	an	exempt	medicinal	products	
notifi cation scheme, designed to monitor the 
importation and supply of unauthorised medicinal 
products. The total number of packs of exempt 
medicinal products notifi ed to the IMB was 1,100,450, 
an increase of 23% on 2009.

Manufacturing Licensing and Registration 

Companies wishing to manufacture human or veterinary 
medicines must fi rst apply for a licence from the IMB. 
Wholesalers of human medicines must also apply for 
authorisation, as must blood and tissue establishments. 

•	 The	number	of	site	manufacturing	licences	in	place	
at year end for human and veterinary medicines 
increased slightly to 113. This fi gure has remained 
broadly stable in recent years. 

•	 In	addition,	the	IMB	operates	a	register	of	new	
medical device organisations including manufacturers. 
The number of organisations registered during 2010 
was 27. Signifi cantly, this is the third year in succession 
that this fi gure has increased.

Safety Monitoring

The primary function of our organisation is to safeguard 
public and animal health. Our goal is to ensure that 
patients have access to high quality and eff ective 
healthcare products. If a medicine or medical device 
poses too great a risk to those who use them, we will take 
appropriate, timely and eff ective action. Our success in 
achieving this goal is as a result of the collective eff orts 
of all our staff  and our decisions are always based on the 
best available information regarding benefi t and risk. 

•	 A	key	part	of	our	monitoring	eff	orts	is	the	operation	
of a national pharmacovigilance scheme for adverse 

THE PRIMARY FUNCTION OF OUR ORGANISATION IS TO SAFEGUARD 
PUBLIC AND ANIMAL HEALTH. OUR GOAL IS TO ENSURE THAT 
PATIENTS HAVE ACCESS TO HIGH qUALITY AND EFFECTIVE 
HEALTHCARE PRODUCTS.

Mr. Pat O’Mahony 

Chief Executive
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were recalled from the marketplace during 2010.  
One of these recalls was initiated by the IMB in 
Quarter 4, after it had assumed the role of competent 
authority. The IMB’s action led to similar actions on the 
part of other EU member states and prompted a wider 
EU safety review of the inclusion of formaldehyde in 
cosmetics products.

•	 Our	enforcement	staff	participated	in	Operation	
PANGEA III in conjunction with 45 countries 
worldwide as part of an international internet week 
of action. The operation, which took place in early 
October, targeted the illegal online sale of counterfeit 
and illegal medicines to raise awareness of the health 
risk to patients and consumers. During the week of 5 to 
12 October, over a quarter of a million counterfeit and 
illegal tablets and capsules were detained in Ireland.

•	 We	completed	the	first	full	year	of	the	IMB’s	advertising	
compliance programme. In the region of 230 
advertisements across different media were proactively 
reviewed. Of these, 44 individual advertisements were 
found to be non-compliant and were corrected.

•	 There	was	a	total	of	263	national	inspections	and	
audits performed in 2010 compared to 238 the 
previous year. A further 30 foreign inspections and 
audits were performed, which compares to a figure  
of 28 in 2009.

REGULATORY DEVELOPMENTS

On 1 October 2010, the remit of the IMB expanded further 
with the transfer of the role of competent authority for 
cosmetics from the Department of Health and Children. 

In addition, during the past year a number of IMB 
departments were heavily involved in EU discussions on 
new and updated directives which will have a significant 

•	 We also suspended the marketing authorisations for 
PregSure BVD vaccine on the advice of the Committee 
for Veterinary Medicinal Products because of a possible 
link between use of the vaccine in dams and the 
development of bovine neonatal pancytopenia  
in calves.

•	 Following	the	premature	termination	of	a	clinical	
trial at Shandon Clinic, Cork, in August 2010, the IMB 
has established an investigation and will publish its 
findings during 2011.

Compliance and Enforcement 

One of our key functions is to monitor and inspect 
industry compliance with legislation, policies and 
procedures. We are committed to ensuring that all 
healthcare products manufactured or distributed in  
Ireland meet essential quality standards and that they  
are advertised in an appropriate manner. 

•	 Quality	defects,	including	the	marketing	of	
unauthorised products, packaging and labelling issues 
and changes in benefit/risk ratio of the product, led to 
the recall of 158 human and 10 veterinary medicines. 

•	 The	IMB’s	enforcement	section	opened	3,936	
new enforcement cases resulting from the Illegal 
manufacture, supply or sale of medicines or medical 
devices. We detained 822,484 dosage units of 
medicinal products during the past year, a total which 
represents an increase of 66% compared with 2009. 
Five successful prosecutions were taken in relation to 
breaches of medicinal product regulations, resulting 
in fines or imprisonment, and destruction orders were 
issued for the detained products. 

•	 Following	a	review	of	a	range	of	hair	straightening	
products due to safety concerns that these products 
may contain high levels of formaldehyde, five products 

Chief Executive’s Report

CHANGE IS SOMETHING THAT WE HAVE CONSTANTLY EMBRACED 
IN THIS ORGANISATION AND WE ARE COMMITTED TO ENSURING 
THAT WE HAVE THE REqUISITE STRUCTURES, SYSTEMS AND 
SUPPORTS IN PLACE TO DELIVER ON OUR PUBLIC HEALTH MISSION.
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the welfare of animals.

In June 2010, I was honoured to be unanimously  
re-elected as Chairman of the European Medicines Agency 
(EMA) for a further three years.

In September, Dr. Almath Spooner, the Irish delegate, was 
elected as vice chair of the Pharmacovigilance Working 
Party. This is a working party of the EMA’s Committee for 
Medicinal Products for Human Use (CHMP).

During 2010, the IMB announced the signing of four 
separate co-operation arrangements with counterpart 
regulatory bodies in Australia, Canada, New Zealand 
and Singapore. The arrangements, which will facilitate 
enhanced regulatory performance and public safety,  
are designed to broaden existing contacts and to establish 
a co-operative framework of mutual support and 
information exchange.

The Benchmarking of European Medicines Agencies 
(BEMA) programme provides assurance to the heads  
of the EU medicines agency network with respect to the 
quality of the systems and practices in place in agencies 
and a resource for sharing of best practices. During 2010, 
the IMB continued its participation in the programme’s 
steering group, as the group reflected on the outcome of 
the second cycle and began to develop proposals for the 
various components of the third cycle. The IMB provides 
significant logistical, secretariat and technical support to 
the steering group and I am the co-chair of the group.

COMMUNICATION AND INFORMATION

The IMB is committed to expanding and improving our 
communications activities and to ensuring that all our 
stakeholders have timely access to relevant safety and 
regulatory information. This commitment is one of our 

impact on the regulation of medicines, medical devices 
and clinical trials across Europe. A number of these 
directives are specifically aimed at improving the systems 
for safety monitoring and increasing the information that 
is available to patients. The legislation includes: 

•	 Pharmacovigilance	Directive,	2010/84/EU,	adopted	 
31 December 2010

•	 Falsified	Medicines	Directive,	2011/62/EU	

•	 Proposed	changes	to	the	Clinical	Trials	Directive,	
2001/20/EC 

•	 Proposed	recast	of	the	current	medical	devices	
directives

•	 A	proposed	EU	directive	concerning	information	 
for patients

•	 A	complete	recast	of	the	Veterinary	Medicinal	Products	
Directive, 2001/82/EC

EUROPEAN AND INTERNATIONAL REGULATION

Healthcare provision operates on a global basis and the 
products regulated by IMB are part of that global industry. 
Healthcare products manufactured in Ireland are used 
all over the world and equally products manufactured 
elsewhere are used in the Irish healthcare system and 
by Irish patients and consumers. It is vital therefore that 
IMB has the capacity and capability to operate in the 
global regulatory network to ensure maximum sharing 
of information on product safety and quality and timely 
knowledge of all emerging issues so we can discharge our 
remit on behalf of patients and consumers. 

During 2010, the IMB continued its very active role in the 
networked European regulatory model and, both formally 
and informally, with international regulators to ensure the 
maximum outcomes for patients and consumers, and for 
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to which members of the public purchase medicines 
online. Encouragingly, three out of every four Irish 
adults read product information before taking new 
medicines while just two percent of the population 
(64,000 adults) claim to have actually purchased 
medicines over the internet.

•	 Research	findings	published	by	the	IMB	in	May	
measured the extent to which consumers are aware 
of generic medicines. The findings also confirm 
the willingness of consumers (78%) to use generic 
medicines if offered to them by their doctor or 
pharmacist.

BT Young Scientist & Technology Exhibition 2010

•	 Thousands	of	students	as	well	as	teachers,	parents	and	
members of the general public from all over Ireland 
visited the IMB’s exhibition stand at the BT Young 
Scientist Exhibition 2010. The exhibition took place  
in mid January in the RDS and it was the first time 
the IMB were involved. The IMB’s stand focused on 
building awareness of the development and safe use  
of medical products. 

DEVELOPING ORGANISATIONAL CAPABILITY

It is essential that we continue to build our organisational 
capabilities in line with scientific, technological and 
regulatory advances and requirements. In 2010, as in 
every year since the establishment of the IMB, there 
were further developments and changes both in the 
environment in which we operate and in the manner in 
which we deliver our services. Change is something that 
we have constantly embraced in this organisation and 
we are committed to ensuring that we have the requisite 
structures, systems and supports in place to deliver on our 
public health mission. 

core strategic goals and will continue to be an area of 
focus and development for the IMB over the coming years. 
A number of significant communications developments 
took place during 2010. 

Publications

•	 In	April,	we	published	a	range	of	consumer	information	
leaflets designed to provide clear independent 
advice on how best to purchase, store and safely use 
medicines. The leaflets, available from www.imb.ie  
or by contacting our offices directly, are:

•	 How	to	take	medicines	safely	

•	 Medicines	and	side	effects	

•	 The	dangers	of	buying	medicines	online

•	 Generic	medicines

•	 We	continued	to	publish	our	Medicinal	Products,	
Medical Devices and Drug Safety Newsletters.  
These three publications which are produced regularly 
throughout the year provide important regulatory and 
safety updates for stakeholders.

Website 

•	 The	IMB	website	continued	to	be	updated	with	news,	
safety information and regulatory documents while 
further changes and improvements were made in 
response to stakeholder feedback. The summary of 
product characteristics document for each human 
medicine licensed by the IMB is now available on 
the IMB website. This key public health initiative was 
completed during 2010 and is of particular benefit  
to healthcare professionals.  

Consumer Research

•	 In	April,	we	published	consumer	research	findings	on	
the sources of medicines information and the extent 

Chief Executive’s Report
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funded by a system of fees which are approved annually 
by the Minister for Health and Children, following a public 
consultation. The IMB operates to the strictest principles 
of independence and governance to ensure quality of 
service combined with value for money. We continued  
in 2010 to successfully manage the affairs of the IMB in 
line with our statutory obligation that income at least 
meets costs.

SUPPORTING ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 

Ireland is recognised as an important global location 
for the life sciences sectors. The pharmaceutical, 
biopharmaceutical and medical devices companies 
manufacturing products in Ireland are contributing 
significantly to our economy and are playing a key role in 
driving export-led growth. The IMB supports this growth 
by indigenous and multinational companies through 
providing regulatory and technical advice and ensuring 
compliance with manufacturing standards. The strength 
and reputation of the regulatory system provided by the 
IMB is recognised as a significant competitive advantage 
for the Irish manufacturing industry. It also ensures that 
appropriate standards are maintained to the benefit of 
patients and consumers, both at home and abroad.

THE FUTURE

As always, we look to the future and the various 
challenges and opportunities it brings with optimism. 

We are well aware of the effects of the economic 
downturn and the challenge this presents for all sectors 
and organisations. In the IMB, we are managing with 
reduced salaries scales, recruitment constraints and 
an ever increasing workload. We will continue to look 
critically at our processes and we will utilise best available 

Process Improvements and Change Management

•	 The	Lean	Six	Sigma	methodology	was	adopted	to	
assist both in the identification of key regulatory 
components and the formulation of an overall 
improvement plan in the assessment and 
management of variation applications. This project 
was driven by the changing regulatory requirements 
for variations while it also contributes to the broader 
transformation programme within the public sector.  
At the end of 2010, it was clearly demonstrated that 
the goals of enhanced service, changed work practice 
and associated savings had been successfully delivered. 

•	 During	the	past	12	months,	the	IMB	formally	adopted	
a paperless licence submission process. This process 
has greatly improved processing times for receiving 
and validating applications and further improvements 
are expected during 2011. In 2010, the number of 
licensing applications received electronically increased 
from 25% to almost 80% with substantial benefits to 
the organisation and to authorisation holders.

Staff Developments

•	 A	significant	area	of	activity	in	2010	was	the	approval	
of a learning and development strategy and the 
implementation of a range of related actions which 
included the introduction of a dedicated intranet site 
and an enhanced induction training programme.

•	 Media	training	was	provided	to	the	members	of	the	
Management Committee and to a number of senior 
managers.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

In line with the typical funding model of healthcare 
products regulation worldwide, the IMB is largely self-

IT IS VITAL THAT IMB HAS THE CAPACITY AND CAPABILITY TO 
OPERATE IN THE GLOBAL REGULATORY NETWORk TO ENSURE 
MAxIMUM SHARING OF INFORMATION ON PRODUCT SAFETY AND 
qUALITY AND TIMELY kNOWLEDGE OF ALL EMERGING ISSUES.
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The continued remit of the IMB to deliver on our broad 
and expanding role is of course dependent on the 
commitment and professionalism of staff. I wish to 
express my personal appreciation to all staff for your 
huge contribution during 2010 and I would also like to 
acknowledge the key role played by former staff in the 
success of the IMB since its establishment. 

Finally, I would like to thank and acknowledge the 
continued support during 2010 of the Ministers  
and staff of the Departments of Health and Children,  
and Agriculture, Fisheries and Food. 

2011 will be a challenging but exciting year for the IMB. 
Our new 5-year strategic plan establishes our strategic 
goals to 2015 and presents a clear roadmap to our 
stakeholders showing how these will be achieved. I look 
forward to working with our new Board, committees 
and staff in the delivery of these strategic goals to ensure 
continued protection and enhancement of public health.

 

 
Pat O’Mahony 
Chief Executive

practices to optimise performance. Allied to this will be the 
development and implementation of a new information 
technology strategy.  

While looking critically at our own cost base to ensure 
maximum use of resources, next year we will seek to 
implement a substantial fee reduction across a range  
of fee codes.

We will begin the detailed preparations for the 
implementation of the revised pharmacovigilance 
legislation and seek to influence the drafting of the 
implementing measures so that procedures are 
proportionate and focused clearly on optimising the 
outcomes for patients.

In addition, we will further extend our range of bilateral 
cooperation arrangements with counterpart regulatory 
bodies internationally to ensure that we have optimum 
access to the required safety and quality information  
on products.
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On behalf of the IMB management team and staff,  
I wish to sincerely thank the members of the outgoing 
Board and the IMB’s various advisory committees for their 
hard work, valuable contribution and dedication over the 
past five years. The independent expertise and knowledge 
base provided by the outgoing members has been of 
immense value to the workings of our organisation.  
In particular, I wish to acknowledge the contribution of 
my namesake, the outgoing Chairman Pat O’Mahony. 
Pat chaired the Board of the IMB since its establishment 
15 years ago. During his term as Chairman, he devoted 
considerable time, knowledge and experience to the role 
which greatly benefited our organisation and contributed 
significantly to the delivery of our public health remit.

Chief Executive’s Report

THE CONTINUED ABILITY OF THE IMB TO DELIVER ON ITS BROAD 
AND ExPANDING REMIT IS OF COURSE DEPENDENT ON THE 
COMMITMENT AND PROFESSIONALISM OF STAFF.
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Human Products Monitoring

During 2010, the department’s vigilance assessment, 
pharmacovigilance, and medical device vigilance and 
compliance teams all delivered high levels of activity  
in managing public health issues. 

HUMAN MEDICINES

Pharmacovigilance 

Adverse reaction reports

Pharmacovigilance is the science and activities relating to 
the detection, assessment, understanding and prevention 
of adverse reactions, or side effects, associated with the 
use of medicines. 

Key to the effectiveness of a national pharmacovigilance 
scheme is an active reporting culture. During 2010, 3202 
adverse reaction reports were received by the IMB, broadly 
maintaining the significant increase in reporting seen 
during 2009. Figures for both years include a substantial 
number of reports relating to the H1N1 vaccines.  
There were in excess of 900 such reports received in  
2009 and over 700 in 2010. 

The online reporting system, available to healthcare 
professionals and members of the public, was increasingly 
used during the past 12 months with some 342 reports 
submitted by year-end via this method. Access to the 
online reporting system is available through the IMB 
website at www.imb.ie. 

The IMB is committed to the protection of public health by identifying, evaluating and minimising safety issues and by 

ensuring that overall the benefits of a healthcare product always outweigh the risks. 

The Human Products Monitoring department has a dedicated focus on the safety profile of medicines and medical devices 

being used by Irish patients, carers, other members of the public and healthcare professionals. Monitoring the safety of 

these products in the marketplace is the primary function for department staff. 
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rates declined significantly as expected in the context of 
decreasing numbers of patients vaccinated and closure 
of the HSE vaccination clinics. The IMB continued its 
contribution to monitoring and surveillance activities at 
EU level throughout 2010.

Gardasil 

Following commencement of the HPV schools 
immunisation programme using the Gardasil vaccine 
in May 2010, the IMB issued guidance for healthcare 
professionals in its Drug Safety Newsletter. A shortcut  
on the homepage of the IMB website also facilitated easy 
access to all relevant documentation. 

Regular updates on the national monitoring experience 
with Gardasil were published on the website. These 
indicated that experience in Ireland was consistent with 
the known safety profile for the vaccine.

Suspension of Reductil (Sibutramine) 

The IMB suspended the authorisations for all sibutramine-
containing products in Ireland on 21 January 2010. This 
followed a European-wide review of new data from the 
Sibutramine Cardiovascular OUTcomes (SCOUT) study, 
which showed an increased risk of serious cardiovascular 
events. This review resulted in a recommendation from 
the EMA indicating that the benefits of sibutramine were 
no longer considered to outweigh its risks and that, in 
the interests of public health, the products should be 
suspended across all EU member states. 

Information regarding the suspension was distributed 
by a combination of post, fax and e-mail to healthcare 
professionals. Details were also included on the IMB and 
professional body websites, advising of the action taken 
and requesting that no further prescriptions be written 
or dispensed. Patients were advised to stop using the 

Individual case reports were followed up by the IMB, 
with feedback information provided to reporters, as 
appropriate. Relevant reports (i.e. serious, suspected cases) 
notified directly to the IMB by healthcare professionals 
were appropriately forwarded to relevant stakeholders, 
including marketing authorisation holders (MAHs) and 
the EMA within the agreed timeframes and formats. 

The IMB continued to encourage adverse reaction 
reporting and provided regular reminders about 
reporting in our Drug Safety Newsletter and our 
regular contributions to MIMS (Ireland) and the Irish 
Medicines Formulary. A number of presentations on 
pharmacovigilance and adverse reaction reporting were 
made to healthcare professionals as part of undergraduate 
and postgraduate training, as well as continuing education 
programmes. While pharmacovigilance uses many 
sources of data, the need for detailed and comprehensive 
spontaneous reports remains pivotal for signal detection. 
The IMB is committed to using these data to promote the 
safe use of medicines, to manage risk judiciously and to 
communicate safety information in a timely manner. 

Pandemic Monitoring Update 

Following increased availability and use of a new medicine 
such as a vaccine, there is a need to continually monitor  
its safety profile. During 2010, the IMB continued its  
active and close co-operation with national partners  
(the Department of Health and Children, the Health 
Protection Surveillance Centre, the Health Service 
Executive (HSE) and relevant marketing authorisation 
holders) in monitoring and exchanging information 
on national experience with vaccines and medicines 
used in the context of the pandemic (H1N1) influenza. 
This included publication of regular adverse reaction 
updates continued until April 2010. Thereafter, reporting 

Human Products Monitoring

THE IMB IS COMMITTED TO USING ADVERSE REACTION DATA 
TO PROMOTE THE SAFE USE OF MEDICINES, TO MANAGE RISk 
jUDICIOUSLY AND TO COMMUNICATE SAFETY INFORMATION IN A 
TIMELY MANNER.
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•	 assessment	of	the	quality	and	comprehensiveness	
of periodic safety update reports and annual safety 
reports; and

•	 responses	to	IMB	requests	for	pharmacovigilance	data.	

The pharmacovigilance inspection programme  
continued in 2010, involving collaboration between  
IMB pharmacovigilance and compliance colleagues.

Electronic Reporting

The IMB continued to report all suspected, serious  
adverse reactions occurring in Ireland electronically  
via EudraVigilance to the EMA. By the end of the year,  
223 companies were in production with electronic 
reporting to the IMB.

Detailed information and guidance on electronic 
reporting is available from the IMB ‘Guide to Electronic 
Submission of ICSRs and SUSARs Associated with Use 
of Human Medicines’, which is available on our website. 
During 2010, electronic reporting updates were also 
included in the quarterly IMB newsletter for industry while 
feedback was also provided to participating companies on 
an ongoing basis.

IMB staff participated at EudraVigilance meetings and 
training courses organised by the EMA and the Drug 
Information Association throughout the year.

New Safety Database

The IMB completed implementation of a new safety 
database in Q4 2010, with the migration of over 40,000 
reports from the legacy database. The new database 
offers enhanced functionality both for recording and 
analysis of safety information, and ensures that the IMB 
has the appropriate technology to facilitate additional 
requirements that will result from future regulatory 
changes.

medicine and to return to their doctor for a review of  
their condition. Relevant patient organisations were  
also informed.

Suspension of Rosiglitazone (Avandia) 

The authorisations for rosiglitazone-containing 
products were suspended in Ireland in September 2010. 
This followed a European-wide review of cumulative 
data which indicated additional concerns regarding 
cardiovascular risk and concluded that the benefits of 
rosiglitazone-containing products no longer outweighed 
the risks. 

Information regarding this recommendation and advice 
for healthcare professionals and the public was distributed 
by post, fax and e-mail with details also highlighted 
on the IMB and professional body websites. Patients 
using rosiglitazone-containing medicines were advised 
to review their treatment with their doctor and this 
advice was also communicated to the relevant patient 
organisations. 

Company Liaison

Advice on IMB pharmacovigilance reporting requirements 
was provided to MAHs on request throughout the year. 
Individual case reports of serious, suspected adverse 
reactions continued to be provided to relevant MAHs on 
an expedited basis, with anonymised cumulative adverse 
reaction summary data provided on request. 

Company/sponsor compliance with pharmacovigilance 
obligations was monitored on an ongoing basis through:

•	 review	and	monitoring	of	the	timeliness	and	quality	 
of individual adverse reaction reports;

•	 evaluation	of	the	follow-up	information	provided	for	
individual reports;
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Periodic Safety Update Reports

Periodic safety update reports (PSURs) are a 
pharmacovigilance tool to monitor the ongoing safety 
of medicines post marketing. They are submitted by the 
MAH in respect of each authorised medicine, at defined 
intervals following the initial authorisation of the product. 
A PSUR is intended to provide an update of the worldwide 
safety experience of the medicine. PSURs are evaluated 
either by the IMB or by other EU medicines agencies 
operating a work-sharing system.

IMB output in assessment of PSURs increased in 
2010 by 82% compared to 2009 figures, facilitated 
by departmental restructuring. The IMB continued to 
support the operation of EU work-sharing activity through 
the Joint PhVWP-CMD(h) Working Group on PSUR 
Assessment Worksharing. The IMB, through participation 
in the joint EMA-MS project team on the implementation 
of the new pharmacovigilance legislation, will contribute 
to further work in this area.

Vigilance Assessments

Safety Variations 

During 2010 , 830 safety variations were assessed 
and processed by the Vigilance Assessment team. 
These included variations to implement the following 
Pharmacovigilance Working Party recommendations:

•	 Risk	of	psychiatric	adverse	drug	reactions	to	inhaled	
and intranasal corticosteroids and risk of non-
psychiatric systemic adverse drugs reactions to 
intranasal corticosteroids

•	 Long-acting	beta	agonists	and	increased	risk	of	
exacerbation of asthma symptoms

•	 Tamoxifen and the risk of variability in clinical response 
due to CYP2D6 genetic variants or when given with 
CYP2D6 inhibitors

•	 Alendronate	and	the	risk	of	oesophageal	cancer

•	 Rosuvastatin	and	higher	incidence	of	diabetes	
mellitus and glucose metabolism disorders in healthy 
individuals without hyperlipidaemia

•	 Isotretinoin	and	the	risk	of	erythema	multiforme

•	 Selective	serotonin	re-uptake	inhibitors	and	tricyclic	
antidepressants and the risk of bone fractures

•	 Selective	serotonin	re-uptake	inhibitors,	venlafaxine	
and mirtazapine and the risk of persistent pulmonary 
hypertension in neonates

•	 Fluoxetine	and	the	risk	of	congenital	malformations

•	 Propylthiouracil	and	the	risk	of	serious	liver	injury

•	 Valproic	acid	and	the	risk	of	interaction	with	
carbapenems

Human Products Monitoring
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voted and approved the agreed final texts in September 
2010. The revised legislation (Directive 2010/84/EC and 
Regulation 1235/2010) was subsequently published in the 
EC Official Journal on 31 December 2010 and is scheduled 
to come into effect in July 2012. A dedicated project 
team has been established comprised of Member State 
representatives and the EMA whose main responsibility 
is to prepare for the implementation of this new 
legislation during 2011. In parallel, the IMB will establish 
a multidisciplinary co-ordination group to monitor and 
contribute to this EU initiative, and to progress and 
facilitate national implementation of the new and revised 
requirements arising from the legislative changes. 

CHMP Pharmacovigilance Working Party 

There were a total of eleven meetings of the Committee 
for Medicinal Products for Human Use (CHMP) 
Pharmacovigilance Working Party during 2010. During 
these meetings, the working party evaluated potential 
signals and ongoing safety concerns. It also provided 
advice to CHMP and Member States on confirmation  
and quantification of risk and on regulatory options,  
as well as risk management and monitoring of the impact 
of regulatory action. The working party also focused on 
setting standards for procedures and methodologies to 
promote good vigilance practice, communication and 
exchange of information and international co-operation. 
The IMB continued to contribute to the working party 
during 2010. In September, Dr. Almath Spooner, the Irish 
delegate, was elected as its vice chair.

In order to increase the transparency of the working party, 
monthly reports are published after each meeting on the 
EMA and IMB websites.

The working party continued its regular interaction 
with the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) 

2010 PSUR output by application type

National PSURs 1066

MRP PSURs 1041

Incoming Centralised PSURs 1284

Outgoing Centralised PSURs 107

PSURs Worksharing – P-RMS 58

PSURs Worksharing – P-CMS 825

Risk Management Systems and Life Cycle Management 

In certain cases, a dedicated risk management plan 
(RMP) may be required as part of a medicine’s approval 
process and for maintenance of approval. A RMP is a risk 
mitigation tool for managing a known or potential serious 
risk associated with a medicine.

Work on the assessment and implementation of RMPs 
continued in 2010. There were 53 outgoing centralised 
RMPs (where Ireland was rapporteur) assessed as 
well as 474 incoming RMPs. Vigilance assessment 
contributed to pharmacovigilance planning and lifecycle 
product management activities with the assessment of 
pharmacovigilance plans, emerging safety concerns and 
results from post authorisation safety studies.

International Activity

European Commission and the New Pharmacovigilance 
Legislation 

The IMB continued its participation at regular meetings 
of the Working Party on Pharmaceuticals and Medical 
Devices in Brussels, together with representatives of the 
Department of Health and Children, to contribute to the 
development of draft proposals amending the legislation 
to strengthen and rationalise EU pharmacovigilance. 
Following a co-decision procedure, the EU Parliament 

THE LEGISLATION TO STRENGTHEN AND RATIONALISE EU 
PHARMACOVIGILANCE WAS PUBLISHED ON 31 DECEMBER 2010 
AND IS SCHEDULED TO COME INTO EFFECT IN jULY 2012.
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vaccines, in the context of the H1N1 flu pandemic.  
An overview of the topics covered is provided below:

February 2010 (35th Edition)

•	 Bisphosphonates	–	osteonecrosis	of	the	jaw

•	 HMG-CoA	reductase	inhibitors	–	risk	of	sleep	
disturbances, memory loss, sexual dysfunction, 
depression and interstitial lung disease

•	 Antipsychotics	–	risk	of	venous	thromboembolism

•	 Ceftriaxone	–	contraindication	in	newborns	and	risk	of	
calcium-ceftriaxone precipitation

•	 Gadolinium-containing	contrast	agents	(as	a	special	
insert)

March 2010 (36th Edition)

•	 Vigabatrin	(Sabril)	–	risk	of	movement	disorders

•	 Hormone	Replacement	Therapy	(HRT)	–	update	on	
product information 

•	 Natalizumab	(Tysabri)	–	updated	risk	minimisation	
measures

•	 Epoetins	–	identification	and	traceability	of	products	
used

•	 Fluoxetine	–	risk	of	cardiovascular	birth	defects

•	 Fentanyl	transdermal	patches	–	recommendations	for	
safe and appropriate use

•	 Perindopril	arginine/amlodipine	(Acerycal)	–	avoiding	
medication errors 

May 2010 (37th Edition)

•	 Clopidogrel	and	proton	pump	inhibitors	–	updated	
recommendations on interaction potential

•	 Exelon	transdermal	patch	–	medication	error	and	risk	
of overdose

through video and teleconferences held during Working 
Party meetings. Information was provided by the IMB 
pharmacovigilance section in respect of all requests 
circulated via the Rapid Alert/Non-Urgent Information 
exchange system by other Member States. 

The working party will contribute to the development 
of guidance for the implementation of the new legal 
framework throughout 2011. 

WHO

IMB staff continued to collaborate with the World Health 
Organization (WHO) and participated at the annual 
meeting of national centres in the international drug 
monitoring programme in November 2010. Interaction 
also continued on topics of common interest with WHO 
and Uppsala Monitoring Centre (UMC) colleagues, with 
regular submission of reports received nationally to the 
UMC for inclusion on the WHO’s international database. 

International Conference on Harmonisation 

The IMB contributes to work on international 
harmonisation through participation in the activities 
of the Pharmacovigilance Working Party and the 
International Conference on Harmonisation process. 

Communications and Publications

As part of its commitment to ensuring access to 
information to support safe use of medicines, the 
IMB issues a number of publications to communicate 
important safety information to stakeholders. 

Five issues of our Drug Safety Newsletter were distributed 
to doctors, dentists and pharmacists during 2010 and 
published on the IMB website. A wide range of safety 
issues were communicated in the newsletter. There was 
also a special edition on antiviral medicines and pandemic 

Human Products Monitoring
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•	 Updates	on	safety	issues	and	benefit/risk	evaluations	
published in the IMB’s regular columns in MIMS 
(Ireland) and the Irish Medicines Formulary

•	 Warning	statements	and	notices	on	safety	issues	or	
benefit-risk evaluations 

We also communicated directly with stakeholders during 
2010 through the provision of information in response 
to specific requests. In addition, we participated at various 
meetings aimed at facilitating continued co-operation 
and collaboration with healthcare professionals, the 
pharmaceutical industry and others.

HAEMOVIGILANCE

The IMB is the competent authority for legislation 
concerning blood and blood components. 

During 2010, we continued our regular meetings with  
the National Haemovigilance Office (NHO) to: 

•	 review	reported	haemovigilance	events;

•	 contribute	to	the	development	of	guidance	on	
haemovigilance reporting;

•	 consider	further	developments	to	facilitate	monitoring	
and revised working practices necessary to meet the 
provisions of the EU and national legislation; and

•	 discuss	other	issues	of	mutual	concern.

In line with the legislative requirements, and following 
collaboration with the NHO, the IMB submitted an 
annual report on serious adverse reactions and events 
to the EU Commission. The report reflected information 
received from January to December 2009 and included 
information on 108 serious adverse reactions and 
46 serious adverse events which met the mandatory 
legislative reporting requirements, with a decrease in 

•	 Intravenous	zoledronic	acid	–	updated	information	on	
adverse effects on renal function

•	 Yasmin	–	update	on	risk	of	venous	thromboembolism

•	 HPV	Immunisation	Programme	(as	a	special	insert)

Aug 2010 (38th Edition)

•	 Rosiglitazone	(Avandia/Avandamet)	–	cardiovascular	
risk

•	 Isotretinoin	(Roaccutane)	–	risk	of	serious	skin	
conditions

•	 Warfarin	–	close	monitoring	of	INR	required	if	
switching brands

•	 Carbapenems	–	update	on	interaction	with	valproic	
acid/sodium valproate

•	 BCG	Vaccine	SSI	–	severe	local	reactions

•	 Bevacizumab	(Avastin)	–	hypersensitivity	and	infusion	
reactions

•	 Panitumumab	(Vectibix)	–	serious	hypersensitivity	and	
infusion reactions

Nov 2010 (39th Edition)

•	 Gardasil	–	update	on	national	monitoring	experience

•	 Tamoxifen	–	risk	of	reduced	therapeutic	response

•	 Oral	bisphosphonates	–	risk	of	oesophageal	adverse	
reactions

•	 Calcium	Gluconate	–	risk	of	aluminium	exposure	with	
glass ampoules

•	 Adverse	reaction	reporting	experience	during	2009

The following publications are accessible via the IMB 
website:

•	 Copies	of	the	Drug	Safety	Newsletters

•	 Direct	Healthcare	Professional	Communications	
(DHPCs) 

AS PART OF ITS COMMITMENT TO ENSURING ACCESS TO 
INFORMATION TO SUPPORT SAFE USE OF MEDICINES, THE 
IMB ISSUES A NUMBER OF PUBLICATIONS TO COMMUNICATE 
IMPORTANT SAFETY INFORMATION TO STAkEHOLDERS. 
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The EU Commission continued to progress harmonisation 
initiatives to develop a common approach to the  
provision of data by Member States through a Working 
Group on Tissues and Cells Vigilance. During 2010,  
the IMB continued to participate in the development of 
guidance for reporting, which incorporated use of the 
tools proposed by the EUSTITE project. 

In line with the legislative requirements, the IMB 
submitted an annual report on serious adverse reactions 
and events to the EU Commission. The report reflected 
information received from January to December 2009 
and consisted of 36 reports associated with use of tissues 
and cells, 31 of which met the legislative reporting 
requirements, including three serious adverse reactions 
and 28 serious adverse events. The remaining five reports, 
while not fulfilling the mandatory reporting requirements, 
were included on a voluntary basis as requested by the 
Commission. 

Information on reporting requirements, including a guide 
to reporting adverse reactions and events, is available 
on the IMB website. Report forms, which can be either 
completed on-line or downloaded, are also available.

MEDICAL DEVICES

Vigilance 

Post-market surveillance and vigilance is a key element in 
protecting the health and safety of those who use medical 
devices and it is a core function of the IMB. 

During 2010, a total of 1678 vigilance reports were 
received and assessed, which represented an increase  
of 26% on the number of reports received in 2009.  
This is the third year in succession that the reporting rate 

reporting noted from the previous year. In addition,  
as requested by the Commission, information on 206 
non-mandatory donor-related reactions provided on  
a voluntary basis was included in the report. 

The IMB was represented at the International 
Haemovigilance Network conference in February and  
the NHO annual conference in November 2010.

TISSUE AND CELL VIGILANCE

The IMB is also the competent authority for tissues and 
cells legislation. 

In 2010, IMB staff attended and participated at  
relevant vigilance and surveillance meetings to facilitate 
monitoring and revised working practices necessary 
to meet the provisions of the relevant EU and national 
legislation. The joint WHO/EU project for Standards  
and Training for the Inspection of Tissue Establishments 
(EUSTITE) was concluded. As part of this project, the 
IMB participated in a vigilance and surveillance pilot with 
partner countries to test the proposed EUSTITE tools and 
guidance. Following completion of the pilot surveillance 
activities and in line with recommendations, a revised 
version of the tools was adopted.

Further vigilance initiatives progressed during 2010 
including a three year project co-funded by the EU Public 
Health group on Substances of Human Origin Vigilance 
and Surveillance. The IMB continued its participation as a 
partner in the various working groups. We also continued 
our role as the lead partner for one work-package 
organising training courses, including e-learning modules 
on investigation and management of vigilance and 
surveillance for tissues and cells.

Human Products Monitoring

POST-MARkET SURVEILLANCE AND VIGILANCE IS A kEY ELEMENT 
IN PROTECTING THE HEALTH AND SAFETY OF THOSE WHO USE 
MEDICAL DEVICES AND IT IS A CORE FUNCTION OF THE IMB. 
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market. Thirty-two percent of the actions in Ireland related 
to field safety notices, 44% related to product removals, 
10% related to software upgrades and 14% related to 
field modifications. In 2010, there were several significant 
actions relating to non active implantable devices 
including the worldwide recalls of the ASR™ Articular 
Surface	Replacement	and	ASR™	XL	Acetabular	System	
manufactured	by	DePuy	International	Ltd	and	the	recall	
of the silicone gel filled breast implants manufactured 
by Poly Implant Prothese (PIP). The implementation of 
corrective actions was closely monitored by the medical 
devices vigilance and compliance team. 

During 2010, the IMB closely co-operated with other 
European Competent Authorities, the European 
Commission and medical device manufacturers on  
several major issues which needed input from a variety  
of stakeholders.

The following graph summarises the numbers of 
vigilance reports received over the past four years and 
the subsequent tables outline the families of devices 
implicated.

has increased. Of these reports, 383 related to National 
Competent Authority Reports (NCARs) that were 
circulated by other European competent authorities.  
The IMB issued 116 NCARs, an increase of 57%  
from 2009. 

Manufacturers or their legal representatives were the 
source of 49% of vigilance reports, 45% were from other 
regulatory agencies including web postings and 6% were 
received directly from medical device users. Class IIb 
general medical devices represented the largest number  
of reports received at 31%. Class IIa general medical 
devices and Class 1 general medical devices were the  
next highest groups at 18% and 17% respectively. 

In the area of general medical devices, the largest number 
of vigilance reports related to single use devices, followed 
by electromechanical and non-active implantable devices. 
An increased trend in reports was noted relating to 
diagnostic and radiotherapy software and equipment, 
respiratory and ventilation devices and active and non-
active implants, including orthopaedic and defibrillators. 

In the area of in-vitro diagnostic (IVD) medical devices, 
the largest number of vigilance reports received related 
to clinical biochemistry and virology devices. Field safety 
corrective actions relating to clinical chemistry analysers 
continued to have a high impact on the number of IVD 
vigilance cases.

In certain cases, in the interests of public health, the 
assessment of vigilance reports will lead to a requirement 
for corrective action. There may also be a need to recall 
a medical device and remove it from the marketplace. 
During the past 12 months, the IMB received 1,218 field 
safety corrective action notifications relating to medical 
devices, 676 of which had a direct impact on the Irish 
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Compliance

Medical device compliance activities are focused on 
protecting the health and safety of those who use medical 
devices. All potential safety and noncompliance issues 
identified are subject to investigation and non-compliant 
devices may be removed from the Irish market. Examples 
include problems with labelling, missing or incorrectly 
attached CE marking, noncompliance with relevant 
legislation and classification issues. 

During 2010, 619 compliance cases were opened, which 
represented an increase of 33% on the figure for 2009. 
Class IIa general medical devices represented the largest 
number of compliance cases. Of these cases, 77% were 
notified to the IMB by other competent authorities and 
related to notified body certificate withdrawals. A number 
of the reports received related to certification changes 
resulting from the requirements outlined in EU legislation. 

A number of technical files relating to Irish based 
manufacturers were also proactively reviewed.

Human Products Monitoring

Family groups of general medical devices and active implantable 
medical devices implicated in vigilance reports in 2010

Si
ng

le
 U

se
 D

ev
ice

s

326

226

180

127 120 115 114

66
32 18

El
ec

tr
o 

M
ec

ha
ni

ca
l

No
n-

Ac
tiv

e I
m

pl
an

ta
bl

e
Ho

sp
ita

l H
ar

dw
ar

e

Di
ag

no
st

ic 
& 

Th
er

ap
eu

tic
 R

ad
ia

tio
n

AI
M

D
Re

us
ab

le
 In

st
ru

m
en

ts
Te

ch
ni

ca
l A

id
s f

or
 D

isa
bl

ed
An

ae
st

he
tic

 &
 R

es
pi

ra
to

ry

De
nt

al

17

Op
th

al
m

ic 
& 

Op
tic

al

0

250

150

200

100

50

300

350

Family groups of in-vitro diagnostic medical devices implicated 
in vigilance reports in 2010

Cl
in

ica
l B

io
ch

em
ist

ry

145

46

25 22 19 16 13
9 7 3

Vi
ro

lo
gy

Bl
oo

d T
ra

ns
fu

sio
n

M
icr

ob
io

lo
gy

Ha
em

at
ol

og
y

Co
ag

ul
at

io
n

Im
m

un
ol

og
y

IV
D 

Ce
llu

la
r P

at
ho

lo
gy

Th
er

ap
eu

tic
Ac

ce
ss

or
y

3

To
xi

co
lo

gy

0

100

120

60

80

40

20

140

160

Outcome of field safety corrective actions impacting Ireland  
in 2010

Field Safety
Notifications

217

Field
Modification

95

Software
Upgrade

62

Product 
Removal

298

0

50

200

150

100

250

300

 ALL POTENTIAL SAFETY AND NONCOMPLIANCE ISSUES 
IDENTIFIED ARE SUBjECT TO INVESTIGATION AND  
NON-COMPLIANT DEVICES MAY BE REMOVED FROM  
THE IRISH MARkET. 



 Annual Report 2010  :  23

to the New Approach. The revision followed the European 
Commission’s concern regarding inconsistencies and 
the level of activity of market surveillance in Member 
States. During 2010, the forum considered the interaction 
between market surveillance authorities with continued 
focus on the market surveillance plans being implemented 
by the various agencies and departments. 

European Activity 

During 2010, the IMB continued to actively participate in 
European meetings of the Medical Devices Expert Group 
(MDEG) and the related working groups. 

Three meetings of the Medical Device Vigilance Expert 
Group were held in 2010. Discussion at these meetings 
included the recast of the medical devices directive, 
the implementation of the vigilance enquiry form, the 
implementation of MEDDEV 2.12-1 rev 6, co-ordination 
between competent authorities, Eudamed, GHTF Study 
group 2 and the NCAR exchange process.

The IMB contributed to the Vigilance Working Group 
meetings, where significant focus is being placed on 
the communication of vigilance issues and improved 
coordination amongst member states in relation to  
post market surveillance. 

The European Compliance and Enforcement Working 
Group also met three times during 2010. Discussions 
focussed on the impact of the New Approach legislation, 
market surveillance projects including the trilateral 
operation in relation to blood glucose meters and a 
number of guidance documents including one addressing 
the use of legal tools for market surveillance. A number 
of improvements to the form used for confidential 
communication between Member States were agreed 
during the year. 

Communications and Publications

In 2010, the following documents were published or 
updated for stakeholders:

•	 Safety	notices	(17)

•	 Guidelines	in	relation	to	legislative	requirements

•	 Medical	device	newsletters	(3)

The IMB also made presentations at a number of relevant 
stakeholder conferences including the SMI In Vitro 
Diagnostic Conference and the Informa Medical Devices 
Summer School. 

Throughout 2010, we continued our regular meeting 
schedule to communicate on key medical device issues 
with stakeholders including the Department of Health 
and Children and the Irish Medical Devices Association 
(IMDA). Assistance was provided to the Department on 
the transposition of Directive 2007/47/EC into Irish law. 

The IMB continued to participate in the National Sector 
Specific Market Surveillance Programme during 2010. 
The programme is an inter-departmental initiative, 
coordinated by the Department of Trade, Enterprise  
and Innovation, to consider the impact of the revision  
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During 2010, the IMB participated in discussions on the 
upcoming introduction of electronic instructions for 
use for general medical devices. Two meetings of the 
e-labelling group took place in Brussels during 2010 
where the European Commission, various Member States 
and industry representatives discussed the text of a draft 
directive on electronic instructions for use. The document 
has been circulated for internal consultation at the 
Commission and is expected to the finalised during 2011.

The IMB participated in an EU Taskforce group that was 
set up to investigate possible improvements to the EU 
regulatory framework concerning vigilance. Much of the 
group’s agenda focused on the identification of proposals 
for the recast of the directives. 

Two meetings of the IVD Technical Group took place  
in 2010. In July, the European Commission launched a 
public consultation on the technical aspects of the revision 
of Directive 98/79/EC on IVD medical devices. Under 
the consultation process, the views of the public and 
interested parties were sought in relation to the legislative 
proposal which addressed issues such as:

•	 classification	of	IVDs;

•	 conformity	assessment	procedures;

•	 clinical	evidence	for	IVDs;

•	 scope	of	IVD	types	subject	to	the	requirements	of	the	
IVD Directive (hospital exemption). 

It is anticipated that the legal proposal will be available for 
the beginning of 2012 to tie in with timelines for revisions 
to the Medical Device Directive and the Active Implantable 
Medical Device Directive. 

The publication date for the Common Technical 
Specification and the accompanying guidance document 
to	facilitate	the	addition	of	vCJD	to	Annex	II	List	A	is	
currently projected to be July 2011. 

Human Products Monitoring
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Human Products Authorisation and Registration

characteristics is particularly important information for 
healthcare professionals when they are considering which 
medicines might be appropriate for their patients and 
when they are informing their patients about a medicine’s 
benefits and risks. 

 Licensing Activities

 Total application input and output review

While there was a decrease in applications received during 
2010, the total output exceeded previous years as depicted 
below. 
 2007 2008 2009 2010

Total Input  17,471 19,657 21,879 17,537

Total Output 17,252 18,668 19,566 19,709

The decrease in applications was due mostly to the 
implementation of the new variations regulation on  
1 January 2010, a decrease in parallel import applications 
and a decrease in renewal applications due to the change 
in legislative requirements under Directive 2001/83/EC  
as amended.

New Applications

During 2010, the output for new product applications 
was 1,795. This was comprised of 502 new national 
applications including 132 new mutual recognition (MRP) 
and 553 new decentralised (DCP) applications, 247 new 
centralised applications* and 339 transfer applications.  
It also included 22 new homeopathic applications.  

HUMAN MEDICINES

In 2010, the total application output for human medicines 
again showed a year-on-year increase. Output data relate 
to new applications, variations or changes to existing 
products, renewals and clinical trial authorisations 
processed by the IMB. Also during 2010, the total number 
of outputs exceeded the total number of inputs, or 
applications, received by the IMB from the pharmaceutical 
industry. This is the first time the IMB has achieved this 
milestone and it is evidence of our strategic commitment 
to provide timely and efficient processes for the review 
of applications so that high quality, safe and effective 
products are available to the Irish public. 

Two public consultations were carried during 2010, 
namely the revision to the dual pack import registration 
scheme and the proposal to develop a national rules 
scheme for homeopathic products. These external 
consultations enable the IMB to identify the needs and 
expectations of our many stakeholders so that we may 
incorporate them into the way our services are planned 
and delivered.

The IMB also completed a key public health initiative 
during 2010 focused on providing important online 
information about all medicines licensed by the IMB.  
This project has resulted in the availability through 
our website www.imb.ie of the summary of product 
characteristics document as well the legal classification 
status of all human medicines. The summary of product 

The authorisation and registration of medicines, medical devices and clinical trials is a core public health function of the 

IMB. Ensuring timely approval of new products applications in particular, following a positive assessment of their safety, 

quality and effectiveness, will give members of the public access to a range of helpful treatments.

•	 Total	number	of	centralised	applications	complete	in	2010;	all	may	have	received	a	European	Medicines	Agency	opinion.
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Renewals 

In 2010, there was an output of 1,116 renewals to 
marketing authorisations for products authorised through 
the national or MRP procedures. This was a 13% increase 
on the previous year. 

However, the number of renewal applications received 
was 753, a 37% decrease on 2009.

Clinical Trials Authorised

Clinical trials are a key research tool for advancing medical 
knowledge. During 2010, 98 applications to conduct 
clinical trials were approved by the IMB. No application 
was rejected. The first gene therapy trial in patients for the 
respiratory condition alpha-1 antitrypsin deficiency was 
approved by the IMB in December 2010. 

The total output  figure decreased slightly year-on-year 
due primarily to a corresponding decrease in parallel 
import applications.

The following table shows the number of new applications 
processed over the last four years:

Variations 

During the year, there was an output of 16,112 variations 
to marketing authorisations for products authorised 
through the national or MRP procedures. There were 
14,343 variation applications received, a 21% decrease 
compared to 2009. This was due to the implementation 
of the new variations regulations. 

Human Products Authorisation and Registration

CLINICAL TRIALS ARE A kEY RESEARCH TOOL FOR ADVANCING 
MEDICAL kNOWLEDGE. DURING 2010, 98 APPLICATIONS TO 
CONDUCT CLINICAL TRIALS WERE APPROVED BY THE IMB.
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•	 establishment	of	a	grouping	system	for	variations	by	
the same MA holder and the introduction of a work-
sharing procedure. 

In order to comply with the new legislative requirements, 
and to introduce greater efficiency in the variations 
process,	the	IMB	established	a	project	using	a	Lean	Six	
Sigma approach to implementation of the legislation. 

A number of agreed objectives included:

•	 improved	efficiency	with	maintenance	of	quality;

•	 streamlined	procedures	and	processes	including	
automation of Type IA variations;

•	 improved	transparency	and	standardisation	of	
approach. 

As a result of this project, electronic submission for 
variation applications was implemented in 2010. 

Premature Termination of Clinical Trial

A clinical trial in healthy volunteers conducted at  
Shandon Clinic, Cork was terminated prematurely in 
August 2010 due to side effects in some of the volunteers. 
The volunteers recovered completely. The medicine that 
was being investigated (rimcazole hemifumarate) is not 
authorised for sale in Ireland and there are no further trials 
ongoing with this medicine. The findings of the IMB’s 
investigation into this trial will be published in 2011. 

Generic Substitution

The IMB was invited to present to the Joint Committee 
on Health and Children in November 2010 on the topic 
of generic substitution. The current legislation covering 
generics and the requirements for authorisation of 
generics medicines were included in the presentation. 

A total of 399 clinical trial amendment applications were 
also approved. 

Regulatory Developments

Implementation of New Variations Regulation

The new Variations Regulation (Commission Regulation 
1234/2008) came into force on 1 January 2010 and 
applied immediately to human and veterinary medicinal 
products authorised through the centralised and MRP/
DCP routes. The application of this Regulation will 
be formally extended to ‘purely national’ marketing 
authorisations in 2012. However, in line with many other 
European regulatory agencies, the IMB implemented the 
general principles of the new Regulation to all marketing 
authorisations from 1 January 2010. 

The aim of Regulation (EC)1234/2008 was to introduce a 
simpler, clearer and more flexible framework on variations. 
The main changes introduced were the:

•	 introduction	of	a	’do	and	tell‘	system	for	Type	IA	
notifications;

•	 change	of	’default‘	category	for	variations	from	Type	II	
to Type IB;
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Classification of Medicines

During 2010, a guide to reclassification (switching) of 
legal status for human medicinal products was published. 
This guide provides an overview of the regulatory 
and administrative requirements for reclassification 
of the legal supply status of a medicinal product by a 
marketing authorisation holder. The guide applies to 
medicinal products for human use granted a marketing 
authorisation by the IMB. 

It does not address switching applications for products 
authorised through the centralised procedure other than 
to advise on specific national issues relating to their legal 
supply status. 

Parallel Imports/Dual Pack Import Registration

New proposals dealing with the dual pack import 
registration (DPR) scheme were implemented from 
1 March 2010, following the completion of a public 
consultation during 2009. Since 1 March, the outer carton 
of each DPR product placed on the Irish market is required 
to carry an overlabel which contains the name and address 
of the DPR holder and the registration number granted by 
the IMB. The overlabelling activity must be conducted by 
an authorised manufacturer. In addition, all applications 
submitted from that date are required to comply with the 
updated requirements. A catch-up scheme for currently 
registered DPR holders has also been implemented. 

A review was undertaken on the current guidance in 
relation to parallel importation of medicines from an EU 
Member State or a country within the European Economic 
Area (EEA) which are already authorised on the Irish 
market. It is expected that consultation with stakeholders 
in relation to possible amendments of the guidance will 
occur in early 2011. Following on from an internal review 

Decentralised Procedures Window

The IMB actively participates as a reference member 
state (RMS) in the decentralised procedure for medicines 
and we typically receive more requests than we can 
accommodate. In order to ensure we continue our 
commitment to act as RMS in as many procedures 
as possible, and to provide a high level of service to 
stakeholders, we introduced a new system for managing 
requests to act as RMS for 2011 and beyond. A ‘window’ 
for requests for the IMB to act as RMS for DCP applications 
opened in 2010 and applications were invited. All requests 
were considered and successful requests were allocated 
a dedicated slot for assessment. In future, it is planned 
to open the window at least once a year. If an applicant is 
unsuccessful in receiving a slot, they can reapply when the 
window reopens at a later date.

Braille and User Testing

In the interests of patient safety, it is critical that 
those who use medicines can access and understand 
the information included on packaging and the 
accompanying leaflet. 

The requirement for user testing of package leaflets was 
put in place by the amendments to Title V of Directive 
2001/83/EC outlined in Directive 2004/27/EC. The 
Medicinal Products (Control of Placing on the Market) 
Regulations 2007 transposed the European Directive into 
national law and came into force in Ireland on 23 July 
2007. All marketing authorisation holders were required 
to submit user test reports carried out on package leaflets 
and introduce Braille on the outer packing of marketed 
products in Ireland by way of variation. 

The deadline for submission of reports was 30 October 
2010. Assessment of these applications will continue  
into 2011.

Human Products Authorisation and Registration
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IMB, are either unacceptable in foods or are acceptable in 
foods provided no medicinal claims are made. 

Overall, a disappointingly small number of applications 
were received in 2010 as part of the registration scheme. 
Further information on the scheme is available on the  
IMB website.

Homeopathics 

Homeopathic medicines can be registered or authorised 
by the IMB. Registration is under the Simplified 
Registration Scheme specifically for homeopathic 
medicinal products without indications that are 
administered orally or externally. Up to December 2010, 
54 products have been registered under this scheme. 
Authorisation of homeopathic medicines with indications 
has been facilitated by the introduction of national 
legislation (Medicinal Products (Control of Placing on the 
Market) Regulations, 2007 as amended) which establishes 
criteria for the licensing of homeopathic medicines 
under National Rules as provided for under EU Directive 
2001/83/EC, as amended. 

The IMB implemented a National Rules Scheme in  
May 2010 following feedback from a public consultation 
in November 2009. Under this scheme, homeopathic 
medicines with indications for mild, self-limiting 
conditions can be authorised. A small number of 
applications were received in 2010.

Together with the Simplified Registration Scheme,  
this new National Rules Scheme will facilitate the licensing 
of all homeopathic medicines on the Irish market. 

An online training session on how to submit electronic 
applications was also provided for possible applicants of 
homeopathic medicines. 

of the process relating to parallel import variations,  
a change in classification was implemented with a view 
to reducing regulatory burden and fees. A number of 
variation types were downgraded in line with the new 
variations regulations. 

Traditional Herbal Medicines

For some time herbal medicines available in EU countries 
were sold outside of a regulated system. This meant that 
they could be sold without having to show that they had 
acceptable safety or quality. Therefore, to protect the 
health of consumers, the EU introduced the Traditional 
Herbal Medicinal Products Directive to allow for the 
regulation of what are known as ‘traditional herbal 
medicines’.

As a result, the IMB established the Traditional Herbal 
Medicinal Products Registration Scheme on 31 August 
2007. Under this scheme, traditional herbal medicinal 
products which meet certain criteria regarding traditional 
use, safety and quality and are suitable for use without 
the intervention of a doctor can apply for a certificate of 
traditional-use registration using a simplified registration 
procedure. Under the national legislation (Medicinal 
Products (Control of Placing on the Market) Regulations, 
2007 as amended), no medicinal product may be placed 
on the market without a marketing authorisation or a 
certificate of traditional-use registration. However,  
it provides an exemption from this requirement until  
30 April 2011 for traditional herbal medicinal products 
that were on the Irish market on the coming into force  
of the regulations. 

During 2010, the IMB continued to actively encourage 
applications and met with a number of stakeholders in 
this regard. In August, stakeholders were consulted about 
two lists of herbals substances that, in the opinion of the 

DURING 2010, A GUIDE TO RECLASSIFICATION (SWITCHING) OF 
LEGAL STATUS FOR HUMAN MEDICINAL PRODUCTS WAS PUBLISHED. 
THIS GUIDE PROVIDES AN OVERVIEW OF THE REGULATORY AND 
ADMINISTRATIVE REqUIREMENTS FOR RECLASSIFICATION.
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European Commitments 

Our commitments to the European medicines regulatory 
system continued to be substantial during 2010.  
The department’s technical staff contributed to a 
broad range of committees and working parties at the 
EMA and the European Commission as outlined in the 
accompanying table.

Customer Service

The customer service section of the department provides 
a central contact point for a broad range of queries.  
In 2010, 3,133 queries were processed of which 2,225 
related to human medicinal products. A large number of 
queries concerned variations to marketing authorisations 
and queries relating to the summary of product 
characteristics, labels and leaflets.

Committee/ Working Party Delegate Duration/ Frequency

Committee for Medicinal	Products	for	Human	Use		 Dr	David	Lyons	and	Dr	Patrick	Salmon	 4	days/month

Committee	for	Orphan	Medicinal	Products	 Dr	David	Lyons	and	Dr	Patrick	Salmon	 2	days/month

Co-ordination	Group	for	Mutual	Recognition		 Dr	Jayne	Crowe	and	Mr	Larry	O’Dwyer	 3	days/month 
and Decentralised Procedures  

Committee on Herbal Medicinal Products Dr Sinead Harrington 4 days/2 months

Paediatric	Committee	 Dr	Kevin	Connolly,	Dr	Yvonne	Looney	 3	days/month 
 and Dr Brian Aylward

Committee for Advanced Therapies Dr Maura O’Donovan  2 days/month 
 and Dr Niall MacAleenan

Gene Therapy Working Party Dr Vincent Irwin 6 days/year

Pharmacogenetics Working Party Dr Helene Plein  4 days/year

Safety	Working	Party		 Dr	Lorcan	Allen		 2	days/3	months

Quality Working Party  Dr Catherine Mc Hugh  3 days/2 months

Vaccine Working Party  Dr Tracy Keane  3 days/2 months

Scientific Advisory Working Party Dr Sheila Killalea/Dr Peter Kiely 3 days/month

Efficacy Working Party (ended Sept 2010) Dr Peter Kiely 2 days/3 months

Biological Working Party Dr Vincent Irwin/Dr Una Moore/ 3 days/month 
	 Dr	Maeve	Lally

Blood Products Working Party  Dr Tracy Keane 2 days/3 months

Clinical Trials Facilitation Group  Dr Brian Aylward/ 2 days/3 months 
 Dr Agnieszka Przybyszewska  

Notice to Applicants Ms Maria Carleton 2 days/year

Human Products Authorisation and Registration
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The IMB continued its participation in the peer review 
programme established by NBOG. The objective of this 
programme to ensure consistency and harmonisation in 
the monitoring of notified bodies throughout the EU. The 
German designating authority conducted a peer review 
of the IMB during the 2010 audit of the NSAI at its Dublin 
headquarters. The IMB intend to continue to actively 
participate in this essential programme for peer review.

Clinical Investigation Applications 

During 2010, three clinical investigation applications for 
general medical devices were received and one significant 
amendment was made to a previously authorised clinical 
investigation. All of the applications received during 2010 
were from indigenous Irish medical device companies or 
clinical innovators. 

Three applications were approved to make non-
CE marked medical devices available for use on 
compassionate grounds in the interest of the protection 
of public health.

During the past year, the IMB implemented a parallel 
review approach to clinical investigations. As a result, 
the IMB now conducts its review of clinical investigation 
applications at the same time as the relevant ethics 
committee. It is hoped that this approach will facilitate 
the submission of clinical investigation applications to the 
IMB and assist the medical device industry by reducing 
the time taken to achieve approval to conduct clinical 
research. 

Medical Devices Classification Requests

During 2010, 64 requests for classification of medical 
device, drug-device and borderline products were received. 
Of these queries, 40 originated from other European 
Competent Authorities, 12 from external stakeholders 
and 12 were internal requests. 

MEDICAL DEVICES 

Designation and Monitoring of Irish Notified Bodies 

Manufacturers of certain medical devices require a 
notified body to carry out a compliance assessment of 
those products before they can be placed on the market. 
In Ireland, the notified body is the National Standards 
Authority of Ireland (NSAI). It is the role of the IMB, as 
the national competent authority for medical devices, to 
monitor the performance of the NSAI as a notified body. 
This monitoring includes conformity assessment  
of medical devices and compliance with the Medical 
Device Directive, the Active Implantable Medical Device 
Directive and the In-vitro Diagnostic Device Directive. 

During 2010, IMB auditors conducted two surveillance 
audits at NSAI premises. One was conducted at its Dublin 
office and one at its US office in New Hampshire. Two 
observed audits of the NSAI were also conducted in 
2010 in which the IMB observed a selected NSAI auditor 
conducting a site audit of a client device manufacturer. 
Non-compliances identified during these audits were 
followed up with the submission of a corrective and 
preventative action plan from NSAI which is subsequently 
monitored at the next audit. 

European Notified Body Operations Group 

During 2010, the IMB completed the review of the 
designated scope of NSAI as a notified body for medical 
devices in order to align their existing scope with the new 
guidance on designation scope definitions specified by  
the European Notified Body Operations Group (NBOG). 
All Member States participating in NBOG have completed, 
or are in the process of completing, scope reviews of 
notified bodies in their territory based on these new 
definitions. 

OUR COMMITMENTS TO THE EUROPEAN MEDICINES REGULATORY 
SYSTEM CONTINUED TO BE SUBSTANTIAL. THE DEPARTMENT’S 
TECHNICAL STAFF CONTRIBUTED TO A BROAD RANGE OF COMMITTEES 
AND WORkING PARTIES AT THE EMA AND THE EUROPEAN COMMISSION.
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Advisory Committee for Medical Devices 

The Advisory Committee for Medical Devices (ACMD)  
met twice during 2010. Topics discussed included:

•	 criticality	of	IT	networks	in	a	healthcare	setting;

•	 designation	scope	of	notified	bodies	for	medical	
devices;

•	 reports	on	reprocessing	of	single-use	medical	devices;

•	 clinical	investigation	of	medical	devices	in	Ireland;

•	 recast	of	the	in-vitro	diagnostics	Directive;	

•	 several	device	field	safety	corrective	actions.	

Communications 

The IMB held an information day in February 2010 
on in-vitro diagnostic medical devices which included 
presentations from IMB staff and European colleagues. 
Topics included regulatory developments for in-vitro 
diagnostics and IMB experiences from the vigilance 
and auditing systems. Arising from the European 
Commission’s questionnaire on the proposed recast 
of the in-vitro diagnostics devices directive, the IMB 
communicated and met with a variety of different 
stakeholders to discuss the topics raised by the 
Commission.

During 2010, the IMB made presentations at several 
stakeholder conferences including IMDA’s Global 
Access	conference	held	in	Limerick	in	September.	The	
IMB continued its participation in events organised by 
The Organisation of Professionals in Regulatory Affairs 
(TOPRA), providing training to their courses and making 
presentations to their conferences in Ireland and the 
UK. In addition, a presentation was made at the Health 
Informatics Society of Ireland conference on qualification 
and classification of software as a medical device.

Registrations 

The IMB maintains a medical devices registration system 
for class I, custom-made, in-vitro diagnostic devices 
and system & procedure packs. In 2010, there were 387 
new notifications to the register. A total of 201 in-vitro 
diagnostic medical devices and 159 general medical 
devices (GMD) were registered. The number of new 
organisations (e.g. manufacturers) registered during 
2010 was 27. A review of the fees and procedure for 
registration of medical devices is currently underway, 
including revision of the IMB register to include additional 
requirements for the Eudamed database.

Human Products Authorisation and Registration

THE IMB HELD AN INFORMATION DAY IN FEBRUARY 2010 ON IN-VITRO 
DIAGNOSTIC MEDICAL DEVICES WHICH INCLUDED PRESENTATIONS 
FROM IMB STAFF AND EUROPEAN COLLEAGUES. 

Classification requests 2005-2010

2005

49

2008

72

2007

50

2006

52

2009

48

2010

64

0

10

50

40

30

20

60

70

80

Registration statistics 2005-2010

2005 200820072006 2009 2010

GMD

IVD

Orgs

0

50

250

200

150

100

300

350

400



 Annual Report 2010  :  33

European Commitments

The IMB made significant contribution to European 
meetings of the Medical Devices Expert Group and the 
related working groups during 2010. 

The IMB actively contributed to the establishment of the 
Central Management Committee for medical devices 
and contributed to best practice guide for competent 
authority meetings. In addition, we promoted European 
discussions on optimising the resourcing and funding 
of regulatory authorities for medical devices making 
presentations on the topic to the Competent Authority  
for Medical Device (CAMD) meetings.

In 2010, the IMB continued to encourage collaboration 
between the HMA network and the CAMD network. This 
resulted in the establishment of an ad-hoc group on 
medical devices at the HMA. Consequently, the IMB’s Chief 
Executive and the UK authority’s Chief Executive attended 
the CAMD meeting hosted by the Belgian Presidency to 
explore potential future collaborations.

The IMB also provided device expertise to the Committee 
for Advanced Therapies (CAT) at the EMA and established 
a collaborative group between the EMA, CAT and notified 
bodies for medical devices. This group, chaired by the 
IMB, developed the EMA procedural guidance on notified 
body consultation for combined advanced therapy 
medicinal products. The group also afforded members 
the opportunity to discuss combined products and will 
develop further guidance in the future as required.

In relation to clinical research, the IMB made presentations 
on regulatory aspects of clinical investigations of 
medical devices to Irish clinical networks, namely the 
Interventional Radiology Network and the Irish Heart 
Foundation’s National Cardiovascular and Stroke Research 
conference. Presentations on this topic were also made to 
industry stakeholders at the MEDTEC Ireland conference 
and at the Eucomed Medtech forum in Brussels.

Throughout 2010, the IMB continued its regular meeting 
schedule to discuss key medical device issues with 
stakeholders including the Department of Health and 
Children, the NSAI and IMDA. In addition, we continued 
our participation in the National Healthcare Standards 
Committee.

In the past 12 months, 475 queries on medical devices 
were received from external stakeholders. These included 
349 queries relating to pre-market issues and 118 relating 
to post-market issues. 

Publications

Three medical device newsletters were issued during 2010 
which continue to be well received with positive feedback 
from stakeholders. Many contributions were received 
towards newsletter articles from academia, the healthcare 
sector and industry, highlighting many different medical 
device issues. In addition, IMB guidance for ethics 
committees on clinical investigations of medical devices 
was updated.

During 2010, the IMB also contributed to the 
development of the HSE’s National Medical Devices/
Equipment Management Policy and Guidance.
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The IMB continued its active participation in the  
European Commission’s Clinical Investigation & 
Evaluation Working Group, the Notified Body Oversight 
Group, the Eudamed working group and the ad-hoc group 
revising the legislation on devices incorporating tissues of 
animal origin.

Human Products Authorisation and Registration

Committee/ Working Party Delegate Duration/ Frequency

MDEG Classification & Borderline Working Group Dr Paul Scannell 3 days/year

MDEG Clinical Investigation  Dr Niall MacAleenan 3 days/year 
& Evaluation Working Group 

Eudamed Dr Paul Scannell 3 days/year

Medical Device Expert Group (MDEG) Dr Niall MacAleenan 4 days/year

Notified Body Operations Group Dr Juliet Doran and/or Dr Niall MacAleenan 3 days/year

TSE Working Group Dr Juliet Doran 3 days/year

Central Management Committee - Medical Devices Dr Niall MacAleenan 4 days/year
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PHARMACOVIGILANCE

Suspected Adverse Ractions

Effective reporting is central to a successful and robust 
pharmacovigilance scheme. During 2010, the IMB 
received 209 reports of suspected adverse reactions 
associated with the use of veterinary medicinal products. 
This represents an increase of 41% over the number of 
reports received in 2009. 

Of the adverse reaction reports received during 2010, 
196 originated from marketing authorisation holders, 
12 were received from veterinarians or other healthcare 
professionals and one was submitted by an animal owner. 
A total of 107 veterinary pharmaceutical products and 
98 immunological products were identified in these 
reports as possibly associated with adverse reactions. Four 
suspected reaction event reports related to the concurrent 
use of pharmaceutical and immunological products.

The 209 reports received were broken down as follows:

•	 128	related	to	suspected	adverse	reactions	in	the	
treated animals

•	 72	related	to	suspected	lack	of	expected	efficacy	

•	 9	reports	involved	suspected	adverse	reactions	in	
individual users following exposure to a veterinary 
medicinal product. 

SAFEGUARDING PUBLIC HEALTH 

The safeguarding of public health remains a cornerstone 
of IMB focus. During 2010, the IMB:

•	 suspended	the	marketing	authorisation	for	PregSure	
BVD vaccine, consequent to a European Commission 
decision that the benefit/risk balance had become 
unfavourable;

•	 adopted	a	report	on	the	Method	of	Supply	of	
Companion Animal Antiparasitic medicines;

•	 updated	the	labelling	and	product	literature	for	
flukicides for cattle that contained substances  
without a maximum residue limit for milk;

•	 submitted	applications	to	the	EMA	for	the	
establishment of maximum residue limits for milk in 
respect of five flukicide substances used nationally;

•	 made	a	submission	to	the	EU	Commission’s	
consultation on the forthcoming review of legislation 
governing the authorisation and supply of veterinary 
medicines;

•	 gathered	information	on	the	usage	of	veterinary	
antimicrobials in Ireland in accordance with an  
EU initiative to monitor the development of 
antimicrobial resistance. 

The year 2010 marked another year of significant progress for the Veterinary Medicines department. Despite the 

challenging external financial environment and limitations on resources, the department continued to consolidate its 

progress over recent years and to deliver on all its targets. Our 2010 review includes details of public health initiatives, 

veterinary pharmacovigilance, availability of medicines, customer service and communications, operational performance 

and organisational development.

Veterinary Medicines
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Veterinary Inspections

The IMB conducted an inspection at the facility of a 
MAH as part of our continued programme of veterinary 
pharmacovigilance inspections in Ireland. Two inspectors 
from	the	BVL	in	Germany	participated	in	this	inspection	
as efforts to harmonise the process for veterinary 
pharmacovigilance inspections between member  
states continue. 

AVAILABILITY OF VETERINARY MEDICINES

The Director of Veterinary Medicines continued to be 
active in initiatives intended to support availability of 
veterinary medicines.

During the past year, the IMB continued to operate and 
develop its partnership initiative, harmonisation and joint-
labelling procedures with the UK’s Veterinary Medicines 
Directorate. Improvements to these procedures include 
the participation of Belgium in the partnership initiative 
for national variations as well as shortened timelines 
for the joint labelling procedure. This collaboration 
delivers practical benefits to companies and the animal 
health industry in Ireland by means of joint, timelined 
assessment and achieves joint-labelled veterinary 
medicines for both the UK and Irish markets. The initiative 
is designed to help safeguard the availability of veterinary 
medicines in this country. 

CUSTOMER SERVICE AND COMMUNICATIONS

As in previous years, customer service and communication 
were key priorities. In January, the department participated 
in an information day focused on the new Variations 
Regulation while in November, the IMB hosted a 
pharmacovigilance information day. We also hosted 
a delegation from the Ugandan veterinary medicines 
authority from 20 to 22 September.

Number of reports by species

Species No.

Human 9

Bovine 121

Canine 40

Equine 5

Ovine  25

Feline  6

Porcine  2

Lizard		 1

Some 11 reports of suspected bovine neonatal 
pancytopenia involving 13 calves were received by the  
IMB during the year. 

Online Reporting

The IMB continues to promote and facilitate veterinary 
pharmacovigilance in Ireland and during 2010 launched 
an online form for reporting suspected adverse reactions 
to veterinary medicinal products via the IMB’s website. 
The form is aimed primarily at veterinarians or other 
healthcare professionals but can also be used by farmers, 
pet owners and other members of the public. This new 
tool simplifies the reporting process and it is intended to 
increase reporting by the veterinary profession.

Periodic Safety Update Reports

PSURs are intended to provide an update of the worldwide 
safety experience of a medicine. During 2010, a total 
of 396 PSURs relating to veterinary medicines were 
evaluated. This figure compares to 254 PSUR evaluations 
in 2009. 

Veterinary Medicines
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THE IMB CONTINUES TO PROMOTE AND FACILITATE VETERINARY 
PHARMACOVIGILANCE IN IRELAND AND DURING 2010 LAUNCHED 
AN ONLINE FORM FOR REPORTING SUSPECTED ADVERSE REACTIONS 
TO VETERINARY MEDICINAL PRODUCTS VIA THE IMB’S WEBSITE. 

Input was also at its highest ever level with another  
year-on-year increase recorded.

As in previous years, the department focused on three 
priorities:

Excellence in our work

•	 Continued	oversight	of	outputs	is	undertaken	by	 
the IMB’s veterinary management team.

•	 A	quality	performance	metric	monitored	on	an	
ongoing basis.

•	 There	were	20	new	or	updated	standard	operating	
procedures approved during the year.

•	 Five	audits	of	various	procedures	operated	in	the	
department were undertaken.

•	 Two	exemplary	assessments	were	peer-reviewed	by	 
the IMB’s expert advisory committee.

•	 A	report	on	the	management	of	knowledge	in	the	
department was drafted.

Efficiency

•	 The	department	processed	all	centralised,	decentralised	
and mutual recognition applications in accordance 
with the agreed timetables.

The department contributed articles to all of the IMB 
newsletters during the year and jointly published an article 
on medicines for bees in the Irish Veterinary Journal.

Presentations on the regulation of veterinary medicines 
were delivered to the RCSI pharmacy students as well as 
to the Association of Veterinary Consultants to Industry. 
A presentation on antimicrobial resistance was also 
delivered to a veterinary audience at the Veterinary Ireland 
conference in November. In addition, a presentation 
on the IMB’s veterinary pharmacovigilance system was 
made at the 3rd International Symposium on Veterinary 
Pharmacovigilance in Germany in December 2010.

As in previous years, personnel from the department 
held a number of meetings with stakeholders, including 
the animal health industry as well as the Department of 
Agriculture, Fisheries and Food.

OPERATIONAL PERFORMANCE

In 2010, the department reached a record output as 
2210 applications were processed. This figure compares 
favourably with previous years as outlined in the 
accompanying graph.
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This included work on a biological product which 
is a developing area in veterinary medicines in the 
EU. Departmental personnel were also involved in 
developing scientific advice for a number of procedures 
at the EMA. 

ORGANISATIONAL DEVELOPMENT

There was continued investment in the training and 
development of staff so as to ensure that the IMB can 
continue to meet its performance criteria. 

The Director of Veterinary Medicines was appointed to  
the Steering Group of the HMA Training Group. 

During 2010, there were a small number of changes 
in personnel in the department and we would like to 
acknowledge the contribution of colleagues who left  
the IMB during the year. 

The year 2010 marked the conclusion of the term of office 
of the members of the outgoing Advisory Committee for 
Veterinary Medicines. The IMB would like to acknowledge 
their voluntary and unpaid contribution which was of 
great assistance to us in the delivery of our remit.

•	 The	number	of	work-in-process	applications	continued	
to decline from 690 units in December 2008 to 645 
units in December 2009 and 596 units in December 
2010. The year also marked a significant watershed in 
processing renewal applications as henceforth only 
new applications will routinely have to be renewed  
at the time of their fifth anniversary.

•	 Implementation	of	a	new	system	for	processing	
applications for variations.

•	 Implementation	of	a	new	system	to	streamline	and	
manage applications through the receipt, validation 
and assessment processes. This was achieved by 
promoting the use of electronic submissions,  
by greater use of electronic review and by workflow 
tools and other process changes.

•	 Implementation	of	a	more	efficient	and	automated	
system for the publication of summary of product 
characteristics documents on the IMB website.

•	 Ongoing	projects	to	improve	management	reporting	
systems.

Added-value

•	 The	IMB	acted	as	RMS	for	35	applications	in	the	
decentralised procedure as well as a further two 
applications in the mutual recognition procedure1.  
This service to industry supports Irish and European 
jobs and once again places the IMB amongst the top 
two Member States in Europe for such work. 

•	 IMB	personnel	also	acted	as	rapporteur	or	 
co-rapporteur in respect of 10 centralised applications 
(apart from the maximum residue limit applications). 

1  IFAH report for 2010 records 15 application procedures where IMB acted as Reference Member State. The apparent discrepancy in numbers between IMB 
and IFAH arises from differences in the point in time at which the procedures are registered (end of EU procedures versus issue of national licence) and 
differences in the manner in which product ranges are recorded. 

Veterinary Medicines
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performed in the past 12 months which compares to 
a figure of 28 in 2009. The number of inspections and 
audits that were completed in 2010, in addition to the 
corresponding number of inspections and audits days,  
are presented by sector in the accompanying graphs. 

The Compliance department is responsible for the 
inspection and audit activities of the IMB as well as 
a number of market surveillance and enforcement 
functions. In addition to a planning unit, the department 
consists of the following five sections under which the 
main compliance activities for 2010 are reported:

•	 Inspections

•	 Healthcare	Products	Distribution

•	 Licensing

•	 Market	Compliance

•	 Enforcement	

INSPECTIONS

The IMB is responsible for the inspection of:

•	 manufacturers	of	medicinal	products	(human	and	
veterinary) and investigational medicinal products for 
compliance with Good Manufacturing Practice (GMP);

•	 blood	and	tissue	establishments;

•	 clinical	trials	compliance	with	Good	Clinical	Practice	
(GCP);

•	 the	pharmacovigilance	systems	of	marketing	
authorisation holders;

•	 medical	device	audits.

During 2010, there was a total of 263 national inspections 
and audits performed compared to 238 the previous 
year. A further 30 foreign inspections and audits were 

One of the primary functions of the IMB is to monitor and inspect industry compliance with relevant legislation, policies 
and procedures. Where noncompliance exists, it may be necessary to take corrective action in the interest of public health. 

Our overall goal is to ensure that all healthcare products manufactured or sold in Ireland are produced to a quality 
appropriate to their intended use. To support this goal, we also promote and support the implementation of quality 
assurance in the development, manufacture and distribution of the products that fall within our remit.

Compliance
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Blood Establishment and Blood Bank Inspections 

Seventeen blood establishment inspections were 
completed in 2010.

The programme of inspections was conducted in follow 
up to Hospital Blood Bank Annual Report submitted 
to the IMB for 2009. It included inspections to assess 
the progress of two blood banks towards ISO 15189 
accreditation as required by national legislation.  
An inspection of a blood bank, the accreditation for  
which had been suspended, was also carried out.  
By year end, satisfactory progress had been made  
towards reinstatement of accreditation.

Tissue Establishment Inspections 

Seventeen tissue establishment inspections were 
performed with the majority being routine compliance 
inspections. 

Performance Targets

 Time to Issue a Deficiency Summary Report (DSR)

A deficiency summary report was issued following 106 of 
the inspections carried out. Of those issued, 77% were on 
time (within 15 days of the end of the inspection).

Time to Issue an Inspection Report

In relation to GMP, GCP, pharmacovigilance and blood/ 
tissues inspections performed in 2010, 53% of inspection 
reports were issued within 28 days of completion.  
Over the course of the year the average time taken to  
issue an inspection report was 42 days.

Time to Close-Out an Inspection

The IMB target is to complete the inspection process 
within 90 days of completing the site inspection.  
This stems from the EU legislative requirement to issue  
a GMP certificate within 90 days. 

Good Manufacturing Practice (GMP)

There were 100 GMP inspections completed in 2010 of 
which 22 were foreign based. Of these foreign inspections, 
nine related to centrally authorised products and were 
carried out at the request of the EMA.

Medical Device Audits

Forty audits of Irish manufacturers were carried out during 
the year. 

The IMB is also responsible for continued monitoring 
of the Irish notified body, the NSAI. The IMB conducted 
two surveillance audits at NSAI headquarters and two 
observed audits of NSAI auditors conducting on-site 
audits at manufacturers’ premises. 

Good Clinical Practice (GCP) 

The GCP inspection programme includes inspection 
of sponsor companies, investigators, contract research 
organisations and laboratories and applies to clinical trials 
approved in Ireland and to those performed in support of 
national / EU marketing authorisations. 

Of the 19 GCP inspections carried out in 2010, 12 were  
at investigator sites in Ireland while one was at a sponsor’s 
office. There was one inspection covering GCP systems 
and two Phase 1 facility inspections both undertaken 
in Ireland. Finally, two inspections were conducted at 
the request of the EMA and one joint inspection was 
performed with the US Food and Drug Administration 
(FDA). 

Pharmacovigilance Inspections

Three pharmacovigilance inspections were performed 
at Irish based market authorisation holders’ facilities. 
Two related to human medicinal products and one to 
veterinary medicinal products. 

Compliance
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distribution. The inspection programme also included 
controlled drugs and precursor chemicals, substances 
which may be misused for illegal manufacture of 
controlled drugs. Inspection activities included on-going 
compliance assessment for existing authorisation holders 
and new applicants for authorisations, and for variations 
to existing authorisations. 

Inspections are performed on a routine cycle of three 
years. Relative to the previous comparable inspection  
cycle (2007), there was an increase of approximately  
30% in the number of inspections. The main reasons for 
this increase were:

•	 On	becoming	the	competent	authority	for	precursor	
chemicals in 2010, the IMB undertook an inspection 
programme in this area. This inspection activity is 
focused on assuring the legitimacy of the supply chains 
for precursor chemicals, thereby reducing the potential 
for diversion and illegal manufacture of controlled 
drugs and other substances of abuse. 

•	 Growth	within	the	medicinal	product	wholesale	sector.	
During the year, 17 new applications for wholesale 
authorisations were evaluated. 

Cosmetics 

The role of competent authority for cosmetics was 
transferred from the Department of Health and Children 
to the IMB on 1 October 2010. The key activities 
performed by the IMB include: 

•	 cosmetic	product	notifications;

•	 ensuring	the	operation	of	an	effective	and	wide	
ranging market surveillance programme; 

•	 participation	in	international	activities,	including	
relevant EU working groups.  

In 2010, the on time target for close-out was achieved for 
61% of inspections performed and the average time for 
inspection close-out was 108 days. This can be influenced 
by the extent of post inspection correspondence and 
follow up. In order for an inspection to be closed out, 
the inspector must be satisfied that the company 
or investigator is compliant and that all deficiencies 
identified during the inspection have been addressed.

HEALTHCARE PRODUCTS DISTRIBUTION 

The integrity of the supply chain for healthcare products 
is critical to ensuring the protection of public and animal 
health. In recognition of this fact, a healthcare products 
distribution section was established by the IMB in 
January 2010. Its purpose is to ensure greater focus on 
the regulation of the supply chain, including areas which 
currently fall within the scope of the regulatory system 
and also additional emerging areas. The remit of the 
section includes: 

•	 distribution	and	retail	sale	of	medicinal	products	for	
human use; 

•	 regulatory	requirements	for	controlled	drugs	and	
precursor chemicals;

•	 regulation	of	cosmetic	products	(since	October	2010).	

Responsibility for the distribution of medical devices will 
also be added in the near future. 

These compliance monitoring activities are performed 
through a combination of inspection and other measures.

Good Distribution Practice and Controlled Drugs/
Precursor Chemicals

One hundred and six inspections were performed to assess 
compliance with the regulatory and Good Distribution 
Practice (GDP) requirements governing medicinal product 

THE ROLE OF COMPETENT AUTHORITY FOR COSMETICS WAS 
TRANSFERRED FROM THE DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND 
CHILDREN TO THE IMB ON 1 OCTOBER 2010. 
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complaints (compliance cases) and five reports of 
undesirable effects relating to use of cosmetics  
(vigilance cases). 

Reactive surveillance also included investigation of 
incoming RAPEX Alerts (EU safety alert for cosmetic and 
other consumer products). The IMB received ten such 
alerts from the National Consumer Agency which is the 
contact point for the receipt and circulation of these 
alerts. In conjunction with HSE, the IMB investigated these 
alerts on the basis of risk and market action was taken as 
appropriate. In two cases, the products in question were 
found on the Irish market.

Incoming and outgoing cosmetic RAPEX alerts – Quarter 
4, 2010

Incoming alerts assessed by IMB 10

Outgoing alerts initiated by IMB 1

Recalls imitated by IMB 2

The market surveillance programme included a focused 
investigation of a range of hair straightening products, 
marketed as having a 12-week (or similar) duration 
of effect, due to safety concerns that these products 
may contain high levels of formaldehyde. As a result of 
this investigation, measures were taken to restrict the 
availability of such products which were found to contain 
excessive levels of formaldehyde. In total, five products 
were recalled from the marketplace during 2010.  
One of these recalls was initiated by the IMB in Quarter 4, 
after it assumed the role of competent authority.  
The work undertaken in Ireland led to similar actions on 
the part of other EU member states. It also prompted a 
wider EU review of the safety aspects relating to inclusion 
of formaldehyde in cosmetics products which will 
contribute positively to protection of consumer health.

The work programme includes coordination of activities 
for cosmetics with the HSE’s Environmental Health 
Service	and	Public	Analysts’	Laboratories,	which	have	
responsibilities for the conduct of cosmetic product 
market surveillance activities, and the National Consumer 
Agency. Engagement with industry stakeholders and 
establishment of regular meeting processes, including 
educational initiatives, were also an area of focus.

Cosmetic Product Notifications

Manufacturers, importers and persons acting on their 
behalf who have responsibility for placing cosmetic 
products into the market are required to notify the IMB 
of these activities. During the last quarter of 2010, the 
IMB received approximately 2,750 such notifications. 
The number of notifications received was significantly 
in excess of that which would be considered as normally 
representative for this sector and was due to an IMB 
initiative to assist the industry in bringing notification 
requirements in line with new cosmetic legislation which 
will be applicable from 2013.

Cosmetic Market Surveillance Activities

These include planned and reactive surveillance 
investigations. Planned work was jointly agreed between 
the IMB and HSE and included focus on a number of high 
risk areas such as:

•	 investigation	of	heavy	metal	contamination	of	
cosmetics; 

•	 compositional	monitoring	of	prohibited	and	restricted	
ingredients such as bleaching agents, colorants 
(including oxidative dyes), preservatives etc.; 

•	 cosmetics	for	use	on	children.

Reactive surveillance activities during the final quarter 
of 2010 included eight investigations of quality-related 

Compliance

MANUFACTURERS, IMPORTERS AND PERSONS ACTING ON THEIR 
BEHALF WHO HAVE RESPONSIBILITY FOR PLACING COSMETIC 
PRODUCTS INTO THE MARkET ARE REqUIRED TO NOTIFY THE IMB 
OF THESE ACTIVITIES.
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Type of site licences /  
authorisations  2008 2009 2010

Human manufacturing 86 85 86 

Veterinary manufacturing 26 25 27 

Investigational Medicinal  
Products manufacturing 45 50 51

Wholesaler  214 209  220

Blood Establishments 6 5 4

Tissue Establishments  6 13 16

Laboratory	Approvals	 11	 13	 16

Total 394 400 420

Controlled Drugs Licensing 

Activity levels in this area increased by 15% in 2010.  
This increase followed the introduction of new legislation 
on precursors in May 2010.

Controlled drugs  
licensing activity  2008 2009 2010

Registration  23 20 28

Export and Import 1,056 970 1270

Annual – New 19 31 19

Annual – Renewal  243 221 172

Letter	of	No	Objection	 489	 447	 448

Pilgrims 14 11 12

Hemp 46 7 10

Total 1,890 1,707 1,959

Retail Sales Monitoring 

Forty-three cases relating to non-compliance with 
requirements governing the general retail sale of 
medicinal products were investigated. These originated 
from both complaints made to the IMB and from direct 
surveillance. The majority of cases investigated related to 
the sale of medicinal products not authorised for sale on 
the Irish market. 

The total of 43 in 2010 was considerably less than 
the 73 investigated in 2009. It would appear that the 
programme of work undertaken by IMB in 2009 has 
resulted in increased awareness within this sector of the 
legislative requirements. As a result, compliance levels 
have improved. 

LICENSING

The importance of manufacturing in the pharmaceutical 
sector to the broader Irish economy is widely recognised. 
One indicator of such activity is the number of site 
manufacturing licences issued by the IMB. In 2010, 
the number of manufacturers increased slightly and 
shows that overall the number of participants in the 
manufacturing area over that last number of years has 
remained quite stable. 

The total number of licences / authorisations in place  
at year end, compared with the previous two years,  
is presented below by category.
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EudraGMP is the name for the two-part Community 
database on manufacturing and import authorisations 
and Good Manufacturing Practice (GMP) certificates. 
The first part consists of manufacturing and importation 
authorisations issued by EEA competent authorities in 
their territory. The second part includes GMP information 
in the form of GMP certificates or GMP non-compliance 
information for all authorised sites in the EEA and for 
inspected sites in third countries outside the EU/EEA.

It is expected that in time, EudraGMP will provide 
information on around 10,000 manufacturers and 
importers in the EEA. In the future, the general public will 
be able to access all information from EudraGMP relating 
to manufacturing and importation authorisations and 
GMP certificates. However, any commercially sensitive 
and/or personally confidential information will not be 
publicly available. 

MARkET COMPLIANCE

The IMB is responsible for a number of risk-based market 
surveillance programmes. These include proactive 
activities such as the sampling and analysis programme 
and the advertising compliance programme, and reactive 
activities such as the quality defect and recall programme. 

The IMB also operates an exempt medicinal products 
notification scheme designed to monitor the importation 
and supply of unauthorised medicinal products. In 
addition, we carry out a programme of regulatory 
compliance inspections at the premises of marketing 
authorisation holders. The latter is designed to assess the 
level of compliance against national legislation relating 
to the placing on the market and advertising of medicinal 
products. 

Export Certificates 

There was an output of 4,033 export certificates as set out 
below.

Product Certification Activity  2008 2009 2010

Certification of Documents 266 235 234

Certificates of Free Sale for  
medicinal products 22 22 13

Certificate of Good  
Manufacturing Practice for  
Finished Product Manufacturers 212 230 224

Certificate of Good Manufacturing  
Practice for Active Substance  
Manufacturers 42 39 31

Certificate of a Pharmaceutical  
Product for Human Use 1236 853 1071

Certificate of a Pharmaceutical  
Product for Veterinary Use 37 89 116

Medical Device Free Sale  
Certificates n/a 977* 2142

Cosmetic Free Sale Certificates n/a n/a 174

Other 61 56 28

Total 1,876 2,501 4,033

* Note that the issuing of medical device certificates transferred to the 
IMB in june 2009. 

Issuing of Free Sale Certificates for Cosmetics 

As the competent authority for cosmetics, the IMB 
assumed responsibility for issuing free sale certificates  
for cosmetics on 1 October 2010. During the final quarter, 
174 certificates were issued. 

EudraGMP 

During 2010, work continued on a project to electronically 
upload necessary information to EudraGMP. 

Compliance
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Product categories selected Number of samples 
for analytical testing in 2010  sent for analysis 

Physico-chemical analysis: 

Active Substances 21

Nationally authorised pharmaceutical products 26 

Nationally authorised biological products 17

MRP/DCP authorised pharmaceutical products  34

MRP/DCP authorised biological products 3 

Parallel imported (PPA and DPR) products 20 

Centrally authorised medicinal products  24 

Borderline (Medicinal / Non-Medicinal) products 8 

Enforcement-related products 156 

Investigational medicinal products 1

Medicinal products manufactured for export 2

Microbiological analysis: 

Nationally authorised medicinal products 5 

Parallel imported (PPA) products 2

MRP/DCP authorised medicinal products 1

Total 320

Packaging and Labelling Examinations

As outlined in the following table, 220 medicinal and 
other products were sampled for an examination of their 
packaging and/or labelling, an increase of approximately 
5% on 2009. 

Approximately 16% of the medicinal products examined 
were parallel imported/distributed products.

The following were the main activities for 2010 in each  
of these areas.

Sampling and Analysis 

There were 540 products selected as part of the 
sampling and analysis programme in 2010. The 
programme is designed to monitor the quality and 
safety of a selection of medicinal products available to 
consumers. It incorporates risk based analytical testing 
or examination of the packaging and labelling of active 
substances, medicinal products, borderline products and 
enforcement-related samples. 

Analytical Testing 

In the past 12 months, 320 medicinal and other product 
samples were sent for analytical testing. Of these,  
314 were obtained from the Irish marketplace while six 
originated from other EU markets as part of the IMB’s 
involvement in EU-wide work sharing programmes.

The data in the accompanying table show the product 
categories. Parallel imported/distributed products include 
parallel import licensed products, dual pack import 
registration products or parallel-distributed centrally 
authorised products.

The amount of analytical testing work carried out  
in 2010 increased by approximately 12% over 2009.  
It is anticipated that there will be an increase in the 
number of samples sent for microbiological analysis 
during 2011. In addition, the number of medicinal 
products manufactured in Ireland that will be sent for 
analysis is also expected to increase. 

THERE WERE 540 PRODUCTS SELECTED AS PART OF THE SAMPLING 
AND ANALYSIS PROGRAMME IN 2010. THE PROGRAMME 
IS DESIGNED TO MONITOR THE qUALITY AND SAFETY OF A 
SELECTION OF MEDICINAL PRODUCTS AVAILABLE TO CONSUMERS.
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Borderline (medicinal / non-medicinal) products  8

Microbiologically analysed  8

Biological products (heparin and  
low-molecular weight heparin)  20

The IMB	received	6	samples	from	other	OMCLs	for	analysis	
at	Ireland’s	OMCL,	the	HSE’s	Public	Analyst’s	Laboratory	in	
Galway. Of these, four were centrally authorised products 
that were analysed on behalf of the EMA. 

Principal Findings from Sampling and Analysis 
Programme

The main findings from the sampling and analysis 
programme are outlined below. Appropriate regulatory 
actions were taken to address the issues identified.

Principal Findings from Laboratory Analysis

While the vast majority of samples were found to 
comply with their specifications, two failed to comply 
with appearance specifications. The IMB advises 
manufacturers and marketing authorisation holders that 
careful consideration should be given to describing the 
appearance of medicinal products, both in the package 
leaflets and in the SmPCs, when submitting marketing 
authorisation applications. This can help avoid patient 
confusion and non-compliance issues, and is also an 
important factor in responding to the threat posed by 
counterfeit medicinal products. 

Principal Findings from Examination of Packaging and 
Labelling

There were 56 cases of non-compliance identified in the 
packaging and/or labelling of 52 authorised medicines. 

Of the non-compliance issues, 36 were due to the absence 
of approved warning information while 18 related to the 
Braille used on the packaging. One product did not include 

Description of products No. of samples  
examined examined (% of total)

Authorised medicinal products subjected to  
risk-based compliance monitoring for  
packaging and labelling attributes 163  (74%)

Medicinal products subjected to  
Braille-compliance checks 24  (11%)

Product usability checks 4  (2%)

Borderline products associated with  
IMB Classification Committee work 29 ( 13%)

Total 220

Much of the packaging and labelling surveillance work 
was concerned with examining package leaflets for the 
presence of the required safety and warning information. 
Other checks included the compliance status of 
overlabelled information on medicine packs, confirmation 
of the presence of package leaflets in bulk packs of 
medicinal products and text on outer cartons.

Participation in EU co-ordinated Market Surveillance 
Activities

The IMB is an active participant in EU surveillance 
programmes that involve the sampling and analysis 
of medicinal products. This is achieved via the Official 
Medicines	Control	Laboratory	(OMCL)	Network.	

The IMB sent 82 samples taken from the Irish market to 
OMCLs	in	other	countries	for	analysis:

Type of product No.

Centrally-authorised products  6

MRP/DCP medicinal products  17

Products from proactive anti-counterfeiting  
surveillance project  23

Compliance
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medicinal products and in their related active substances. 
In 2010, 751 quality defects were either reported to,  
or identified by, the IMB. This is the highest number  
of quality defect investigations in any one year since  
the introduction of the programme. Year-on-year,  
it represents a 22% increase. 

A number of factors contributed to this increase including 
guidance and direction provided to manufacturers as 
regards what should be reported as a quality defect and 
promotion of the IMB’s online reporting system. 

One company was also required to report all quality 
defects to the IMB that affected Ireland until assurance 
was gained that the company could itself satisfactorily 
categorise a reportable defect. This related to products the 
company manufactured here and/or those it placed on the 
Irish market. 

There were 693 reports concerning medicines for human 
use while 58 reports concerned veterinary medicines. 
The table below illustrates how the various quality defect 
issues were classified. For comparison, the corresponding 
figures for the previous three years are also presented.

the approved expiry date on a blister strip while another 
product did not contain the approved package leaflet. 

Unauthorised Medicinal Products

In order to safeguard consumer health, all medicinal 
products must be authorised before being marketed. 
Medicinal products marketed in Ireland must be 
authorised by the IMB or the European Commission. 

In the past year, 11 unauthorised medicinal products were 
identified on the Irish market. The products concerned 
were found to be making medicinal claims and this is 
prohibited. 
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Quality Defects and Recalls 

The quality defects and recalls programme investigates, 
on the basis of risk to public and animal health, reports of 
suspected quality defects in both human and veterinary 

Quality defect classification 2007 2008 2009 2010

Minor quality defects  80 105 147 241

Major quality defects  216 299 345 332

Critical quality defects 173 127 105 173

Quality defect reports not justified 4 23 17 5

Total  473  554  614 751

IN 2010, 751 qUALITY DEFECTS WERE EITHER REPORTED TO, 
OR IDENTIFIED BY, THE IMB. THIS IS THE HIGHEST NUMBER OF 
qUALITY DEFECT INVESTIGATIONS IN ANY ONE YEAR SINCE THE 
INTRODUCTION OF THE PROGRAMME.
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Stability-related quality defect reports accounted for 13% 
of human product and 33% of veterinary product defects. 
An increased awareness on the parts of manufacturers  
and MAHs of the requirement to report all confirmed  
out-of-specification stability results to the IMB is likely  
to be a significant factor in the high level of reporting  
seen in this area over the past two years. 

The number of quality defects captured in the category 
‘Other’ reduced significantly this year. This is due to the 
introduction of five new defect categories in 2010. 

Types of quality defects  Human  Veterinary 
 quality  quality 
 defects (%) defects (%)

Packaging /	Labelling  28% 3%

Stability  13% 33%

Non-Compliance with MA  8% 24%

Non-Compliance with Specifications  7% 9%

Non-Adherence to Cold Chain  
Requirements 2% 0%

Microbial, Chemical and Particulate  
Product Contamination  10% 2%

Product Mix-Up  3% 0%

Unlicensed Product  8% 5%

Lack	of	Therapeutic	Efficacy		 0%	 0%

Damaged Product  5% 0%

Potential Counterfeit  1% 0%

Product Usage  1% 0%

Non-Compliance with GMP  1% 0%

Erroneous Distribution  1% 0%

Lack	of	Sterility	Assurance	 1%	 3%

Of the 751 cases, 609 were considered to affect Ireland.  
In such cases, the defective batch or batches were either 
on the Irish market and/or were manufactured here. 

Regarding the 173 critical quality defect reports received 
or identified, 77 of these directly affected Ireland. There 
were 74 defects concerning human medicines and the 
remaining three cases related to veterinary medicines.  
The issues of concern in these cases related to:

•	 Product	stability	

•	 Non-compliant	packaging	

•	 Products	containing	undeclared	active	ingredients

•	 Product	contamination	

•	 Non-adherence	to	cold	chain	storage	by	wholesalers

•	 Product	mix-up	

•	 Unlicensed	product	on	the	market

•	 Lack	of	sterility	assurance	

•	 An	unfavourable	shift	in	the	benefit/risk	ratios	of	
products, as a result of newly acquired safety-related 
information

•	 Damaged	products,	including	injectables	and	capsules	
containing cytotoxic materials. 

In the case of four of the critical quality defect reports,  
it was not possible to conclusively determine whether or 
not the medicines in question were on the Irish market. 
These medicines were unauthorised and were distributed 
via the internet and other unauthorised supply routes. 

The following table shows the different types of quality 
defects. As in previous years, packaging and labelling 
issues account for a significant proportion (28%) of 
human product defects. This area covers a wide spectrum 
of issues that can involve the primary or secondary 
packaging components and also labels, leaflets and 
associated literature such as SmPCs. 

Compliance

DURING 2010, 168 MEDICINE RECALLS WERE REqUESTED AND 
MONITORED. OF THESE, 158 CONCERNED HUMAN MEDICINES 
WITH 10 RELATED TO VETERINARY PRODUCTS. 
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The number of quality defect reports (22) received  
from community pharmacists doubled in 2010.  
Of these reports, 11 were submitted via the IMB’s  
online reporting facility. 

Human medicine reports from pharmaceutical companies 
increased to 429 compared with 295 reports in 2009. 
It is difficult to determine if this increase is due to better 
transparency and reporting by companies or whether 
there is an overall increase in the number of defects.  
A guidance note on when it is necessary to submit reports 
of minor quality defects was published in October 2010. 
The impact of this on the number of minor quality defects 
reported by companies will be seen during 2011.

There were 116 quality defect and recall notifications 
received	from	competent	authorities	and	OMCLs	in	other	
countries. 

Recalls of Human and Veterinary Medicinal Products 

In order to protect the health and safety of patients,  
it is deemed necessary in certain cases to withdraw,  
or recall, products from the Irish market. During 2010,  
168 medicine recalls were requested and monitored.  
Of these, 158 concerned human medicines with  
10 related to veterinary products. The recall from the 
Irish marketplace of a batch or a number of batches of 
a product occurred in approximately 22% of all quality 
defect cases. 

Unauthorised products on the Irish market, packaging 
and labelling issues and changes in the benefit/risk ratio 
of products accounted for a significant number of recalls. 
Details are provided in the table overleaf.

Adverse Event / Change in  
Benefit/Risk Ratio 4% 5%

Undeclared Active Ingredient 3% 12%

Other defects  4% 3%

Sources of human medicinal product quality defects 

Source No.

Community Pharmacists  22

Hospital Pharmacists 27

IMB Staff Members 92

Patients and/or Members of the Public 2

Companies (Manufacturers, Distributors  
and/or MAHs) 429

Competitor Companies 1

Other Competent Authorities 116

Physicians and Nurses 1

Other 1

Sources of veterinary medicinal product quality defects

Source No.

IMB Staff Members 4

Companies (Manufacturers, Distributors  
and/or VPA Holders) 23

Other Competent Authorities 31
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Human medicinal product recalls: type of quality defect

Type of quality defect 2007 2008 2009 2010

Packaging	and/or	Labelling		 21	 72	 19	 32

Stability  3 6 2 9

Non-compliance with MA  6  3 1 2

Sterility Assurance and various other Product Safety Concerns 13  5 9 *New category 
    below

Non-compliance with Specification  1  9 7 5

Non-adherence to Cold Chain  19 1 0 9

Particulate or other Contamination  12  5 6 4

Product Mix-Up  1  3 1 4

Unauthorised Product  4  15 34 #

Lack	of	Therapeutic	Efficacy		 3		 0	 0	 0

Damaged Product  3 1  1 12

Potential Counterfeit  N/A 1 1 0

Product Usage Issues 5 0  0 0

Non-Compliance with GMP  New Category  0

Unauthorised Product on the Irish Market  New Category  44

Erroneous Distribution   New Category  1

Lack	of	Sterility	Assurance*		 	 New	Category	 	 3

Adverse Event/Change in Benefit:Risk Ratio  New Category  17

Products Containing Undeclared Active Ingredients   New Category  6

Other  3  7 11 10

Total  56 88  92 158

# This category has been sub divided into: Unauthorised Product on the Irish Market, Erroneous Distribution and Products Containing Undeclared Active 
Ingredients. 

Compliance

THE IMB CONTINUES TO WORk WITH STAkEHOLDERS IN 
SEVERAL AREAS TO IDENTIFY AND DEVELOP SOLUTIONS TO THE 
SIGNIFICANT USE OF ExEMPT PRODUCTS IN IRELAND.
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products are obliged to provide certain information to 
the IMB in relation to any exempt products that they 
source. This is done via an electronic notification system 
to an IMB database. The main purpose of receiving such 
information is to protect public health by facilitating the 
effective recall of any defective exempt medicinal products 
from the Irish market. 

One of the parameters recorded is the number of product 
lines notified during a period of time, defined as an 
individual notification of an exempt product name.  
During 2010, 27,171 product lines were notified to the 
IMB, an increase of just of over 50% on 2009. The extent 

Exempt Medicinal Products Programme

Medicines placed on the Irish market must be authorised 
by the IMB or, in the case of centrally authorised products, 
by the European Commission. However, European 
regulations do provide for an exemption to this rule.  
In this case, doctors are permitted to prescribe 
unauthorised medicines for individual patients under 
their direct responsibility in order to fulfil the special needs 
of those patients. Such products are defined as ‘exempt 
medicinal products’.

In accordance with the Medicinal Products Regulations 
2007-2010, wholesalers and manufacturers of medicinal 

Veterinary medicinal product recalls: type of quality defect

Type of defect 2007 2008 2009 2010

Packaging	and	/	or	Labelling	 2	 10	 0	 1

Stability 0 0 0 3

Non-compliance with VPA 0 0 0 0

Non-compliance with Specification 2 0 0 0

Particulate or other Contamination  0 0 1 0

Product Mix-Up  0 0 0 0

Unauthorised Product  4 2 7 #

Non-Compliance with GMP  New Category  0

Unauthorised Product on the Irish Market  New Category  3

Erroneous Distribution   New Category  0

Lack	of	Sterility	Assurance		 	 New	Category	 	 0

Adverse Event/Change in Benefit:Risk Ratio  New Category  2

Products Containing Undeclared Active Ingredients   New Category  0

Other  1 1 0 1

Total  9 13  8 10

#	 This	category	has	been	sub	divided	into;	Unauthorised	Products,	Erroneous	Distribution	and	Products	Containing	Undeclared	Active	Ingredients.	
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•	 management	and	communication	of	regulatory	
commitments and regulatory changes;

•	 management	of	registered	product	information;

•	 provision	of	a	medical	information	service	for	
healthcare professionals;

•	 presence	of	a	quality	management	system	to	facilitate	
regulatory compliance;

•	 medicinal	product	advertising.

The programme has enabled the IMB to inspect key  
areas of activity concerning the marketing and advertising 
of medicines by companies in Ireland. This enables us 
to determine their level of compliance with the legal 
requirements for product marketing and advertising. 
See the following section of this report for further 
information.

Advertising Compliance Programme

It is important that in the interests of public health,  
the benefits, uses and effects of medicines are promoted 
responsibly. It is the role of the IMB to monitor and review 
advertising and promotion activities by the industry 
for compliance with the requirements of the Medicinal 
Products (Control of Advertising) Regulations, 2007.

Approximately 420 individual advertisements were 
reviewed for compliance in 2010. A number were 
identified as being non-compliant and in all such cases 
the IMB supervised the adoption of the necessary 
corrective and/or preventative actions by the marketing 
authorisation holder. 

There were four main components to the programme.

Proactive Monitoring

Approximately 230 advertisements in different media 
were reviewed. Of these, 79% were part of risk-based, 

of this increase is likely due to a number of factors and 
is not solely a reflection of increased usage of exempt 
products. Firstly, there is an increased awareness among 
companies of the requirement to notify the IMB when 
souring exempt products for distribution in Ireland. 
Another factor that contributed to the increase is that 
a number of companies were required to correct errors 
in notifications received prior to 2010. The amended 
notifications were then re-submitted during the past year 
and included as product lines for 2010. 

The total number of packs of exempt medicinal products 
notified was 1,100,450, an increase of 23% on 2009.  
The IMB continues to work with stakeholders in several 
areas to identify and develop solutions to the significant 
use of exempt products in Ireland.

A number of significant non-compliances were identified 
with the supply of exempt products and two companies 
were required to perform a retrospective review of the 
quality of data that they notified to the IMB since 2008. 
Corrections to the IMB database were subsequently 
required and these resulted in increases in the notification 
figures for the year. 

Regulatory Compliance Inspections 

The programme of regulatory compliance inspections 
commenced in 2007 and continued during the past year 
when five inspections were carried out. These inspections 
take place at the premises of marketing authorisation 
holders and are fully risk-based. This means the focus is on 
those areas that have a high potential to impact upon the 
quality and safety of medicines, as well as the safe use of 
medicines, including:

•	 implementation	of	safety-related	changes	to	product	
information and product labelling; 

Compliance
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Advertising-related Complaints

There were 18 complaints received from healthcare 
professionals, competitor companies, the general public  
or noted by IMB staff. As part of the follow-up 
investigations, approximately 120 advertisements 
were reviewed. Following these reviews, six complaints 
were determined to be valid, and these concerned 
approximately 15 non-complaint advertisements.

Advertising-related Queries

A number of advertising-related queries were 
received from a range of sources including healthcare 
professionals, pharmaceutical companies and the general 
public. These resulted in the review of approximately  
72 advertisements. Of these, one was found to be  
non-compliant. 

pre-planned surveillance projects while 21% were selected 
on a randomised basis. Randomly selected projects are 
in response to newly launched advertising campaigns. 
In total, 44 individual advertisements were found to be 
non-compliant.

Inspection of Advertising Programmes at Offices  
of Marketing Authorisation Holders

During two regulatory compliance inspections at MAH 
offices, the companies’ advertising programmes and 
related activities were reviewed in detail. One was a 
follow-up inspection and was carried out specifically  
to review certain monetary grants and sponsorship.  
A number of major and other deficiencies were identified 
during those inspections. Implementation of corrective 
actions was overseen. 

 Advertising Compliance work carried out in 2010

 Summary Number of Number of non-compliances 
  advertisements identified 
  reviewed

Proactive Monitoring: Pre-planned Projects 8 Approx 180* 30 individual advertisements were 
   non-compliant across 4 projects

Proactive Monitoring: Randomly-selected Projects 12 Approx 48* 14 individual advertisements were 
   non-compliant. This included 7 pages 
    of one website

MAH Inspections Performed 5 Numerous,  Several major and other deficiencies 
  not quantified identified

Complaints Received 18 Approx 120* 6 cases covering 15 advertisements 
   were upheld as being valid  
   complaints

Queries Received 52 Approx 72* 1 query led to a non-compliance  
   being identified

* Note: Some of these figures include website advertisements. Each page of a website is counted as one advertisement as multiple pages often carry 
different advertisements. 

APPROxIMATELY 420 INDIVIDUAL ADVERTISEMENTS WERE REVIEWED FOR 
COMPLIANCE IN 2010. IN ALL CASES IDENTIFIED AS BEING NON-COMPLIANT 
THE IMB SUPERVISED THE ADOPTION OF THE NECESSARY CORRECTIVE AND/
OR PREVENTATIVE ACTIONS BY THE MARkETING AUTHORISATION HOLDER.
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there was detention of 131,805 units related to erectile 
dysfunction products. Other products detained included 
the active substances, diazepam, zopiclone, flurazepam 
and testosterone. 

The majority of unauthorised medicinal products supplied 
into Ireland originated from India.

Medicinal products destroyed during the year,  
in compliance with the Waste Management Acts  
1966-2001, amounted to 1,400 kg. 

The IMB liaises with other enforcement agencies, both 
nationally and internationally, to stem the unauthorised 
flow of illegal medicinal products, medical devices and 
cosmetic products into and out of the State. During 2010, 
IMB enforcement officers, Revenue’s Customs Service 
and An Garda Síochána carried out a number of joint 
operations. These included Operation Pangea III,  
a global initiative to identify and act against illegal 
websites supplying counterfeit and illegal medicinal 
products. Carried out in October 2010, Pangea III  
involved 47 countries worldwide. 

During 2010, the IMB was involved in five prosecutions, 
two in the Dublin Circuit Criminal Courts and three in the 
District Courts:

•	 Mr.	Terry	Cassidy	and	his	company	were	convicted	at	
Carrickmacross District Court on a total of six charges 
relating to breaches of medicinal products regulations. 
Mr Cassidy was fined €300 (€100 per charge) and 
Tirchonail Service Station €750 (€250 per charge). 
Expenses totalling €5,000 were awarded to the IMB 
and a destruction order was issued for all products 
detained in this investigation. 

•	 Mr.	Bernard	Foy	and	Ms.	Anna	Nawrocka	were	
prosecuted by the Director of Public Prosecutions 

Additional Advertising Related Activities 

A multidisciplinary advertising committee was set up 
during 2010 within the IMB in order to provide advice 
on various aspects of the operation of the advertising 
compliance programme. 

In addition, an advertising technical working group was 
established comprising IMB staff members as well as 
representatives from the pharmaceutical industry in 
Ireland. This group is a forum for the communication of 
advertising-related issues between the IMB and industry 
representative bodies, with a view to the promotion of 
good practice and compliance. One meeting was held 
during 2010.

ENFORCEMENT 

Illegal activity involving the manufacture, supply and 
sale of medicines or medical devices can potentially have 
consequences for public health. It is the role of the IMB 
to investigate potential breaches of human medicinal 
product and medical devices legislation. Where necessary, 
we will take the appropriate corrective action including 
possible legal proceedings.

In 2010, a total of 3,936 enforcement cases were  
initiated, compared with 3,729 for 2009. This represents  
a year-on-year increase of 6%. The majority were 
mail order/internet importations of prescription only 
medicines.

A total of 822,484 dosage units of medicinal products 
were detained during the past year. This represents 
an increase of 66% compared with 2009. It includes 
detention of 290,240 units of weight loss products 
containing the active substance sibutramine, an almost 
fivefold increase on the previous year. In addition, 

Compliance
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•	 At	Loughrea	District	Court,	Mr.	Gerard	Mansfield,	
trading as Alman Chemicals, pleaded guilty to eight 
charges involving wholesaling of unauthorised 
medicinal products (six charges) and supplying 
pharmacy confined medicinal products. He was  
fined €800 (€100 per charge) and costs of €3,750  
were awarded to the IMB. A destruction order was 
issued for all medicinal products detained during  
the investigation.

in the Circuit Criminal Court, Dublin for the illegal 
supply and distribution of prescription only medicinal 
products, such as anabolic steroids, insulin and 
Viagra. Mr. Foy pleaded guilty and the Court imposed 
a custodial sentence of two years. Ms. Nawrocka 
also pleaded guilty and was sentenced to 100 hours 
community service. The activities of Mr. Foy and 
Ms. Nawrocka were brought to light in early 2005 
following investigations by the IMB, working in  
close co-operation with An Garda Síochána.  
In total, €212,000 worth of prescription only  
medicinal products was detained by the IMB 
throughout the course of its investigation.  
A destruction order was issued for all products 
detained along with a surrender order to the State  
for the €6,000 found on Mr. Foy’s person at the time 
of his arrest in March 2005. 

•	 Ms.	Amelia	Hennessy	of	Myth	&	Magic,	Athlone	
was convicted for the supply of a prescription only 
medicinal product and the placing on the market of 
an unauthorised medicinal product. Ms. Hennessy 
was fined €350 on the first charge with the second 
taken into account. In addition, the defence agreed to 
pay €1,500 for expenses to the IMB and a destruction 
order was issued for all products detained in this 
investigation. 

A TOTAL OF 822,484 DOSAGE UNITS OF MEDICINAL PRODUCTS 
WERE DETAINED DURING THE PAST YEAR. THIS REPRESENTS AN 
INCREASE OF 66% COMPARED WITH 2009.
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Senior Scientific Advisor

The following table shows the numbers of classification 
queries received in 2010 compared with the three 
previous years.

EUROPEAN PHARMACOPOEIA

Three meetings of the European Pharmacopoeia 
Commission were held in 2010 and were attended by 
Dr. Mike Morris and/or Mr. Mirza Catibusic. In addition, 
delegates from Ireland participated in some of the many 
groups of experts and working parties which provide 
expert advice to the European Pharmacopoeia.

Group 13B on herbal medicines met three times in 2010. 
Ireland is represented on this group by Dr. Des Corrigan, 
a member of the IMB Advisory Committee on Human 
Medicines.

Group 12 on pharmaceutical dosage forms met once  
in 2010.

BORDERLINE PRODUCT CLASSIFICATION

The IMB provides a service to stakeholders to assist 
in clarifying which products should be categorised as 
medicinal products and medical devices. Such products 
fall under the remit of IMB from a regulatory perspective 
and are distinct from other products which are outside 
the IMB’s remit. Queries are routinely received in regard 
to human medicines, veterinary medicines and medical 
devices.

A classification service is operated for products which are 
on the borderline of human medicines and other products 
such as food supplements, cosmetics and medical 
devices. Requests for classification, whether external or 
internal, are presented to an internal, multi-disciplinary, 
human medicinal product Classification Committee. 
The Committee, which met 11 times in 2010, consists 
of appropriately experienced IMB staff from across the 
organisation and is chaired by Dr. Mike Morris, Senior 
Scientific Advisor. During the past 12 months, a total 
of 105 new products were considered consisting of 
72 internal applications emanating mainly from the 
Compliance Department and 33 external applications.  
In addition, there were 26 products revisited from  
pre-2010.

The Committee has a close working relationship with 
the Food Safety Authority of Ireland while it also engages 
in regular dialogue with the Department of Health and 
Children and other national regulatory authorities. 

Dr. Mike Morris is the IMB’s Senior Scientific Advisor. In addition to representing the IMB at the European Pharmacopoeia 

Commission, Dr. Morris provides scientific advice as necessary to other departments within the organisation, co-ordinates 

IMB participation at various scientific networks and chairs a number of internal working groups. 

Classification queries 2007 - 2010

 2007 2008 2009 2010

New products 169 82 131 105

Revisited products 21 27 24 26

Internal 51 55 114 72

External 118 27 17 33

Total 190 109 155 131
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in the work of this group and provides a link to the IMB 
Management Committee in regard to such products. 

ADVERTISING COMPLIANCE PROGRAMME

A multidisciplinary advertising committee was set up 
during 2010 within the IMB in order to provide advice 
on various aspects of the operation of the advertising 
compliance programme. The group met quarterly in 2010 
under the chairmanship of the Senior Scientific Advisor. 
Further details of the programme are provided in the 
Compliance section of this report.

HUMAN PRODUCTS NAMING GROUP

The IMB policy on invented names of human medicines 
was reviewed during 2010 by members of the Human 
Products Authorisation and Registration department.  
To facilitate this process, an internal group was established 
under the chairmanship of the Senior Scientific Advisor. 
The group, which met approximately every second 
month, further developed IMB guidelines on the naming 
of human medicines and also gave advice on specific 
product name queries. In certain cases, members of the 
group also met with applicants in order to discuss product 
naming issues.

COMPLIANCE SUPPORT

In parallel with the classification activities outlined 
previously, the Senior Scientific Advisor, where necessary, 
provided scientific advice to the IMB’s Compliance 
department. This advice included the preparation of 
expert statements to support IMB enforcement activity. 
During 2010, seven such statements relating to various 
products were prepared. 

The Process Analytical Technology working party held 
three meetings and one teleconference during 2010.  
The working party made useful progress in developing 
new policy on uniformity testing of large sample sizes and 
in the revision of the European Pharmacopoeia method 
for NIR analysis. 

The Homeopathic Manufacturing Methods and 
Homeopathic Products working parties met twice in  
2010 to further develop the monographs on homeopathic 
substances and manufacturing methods.

Dr. Mike Morris participates in Group 12 and the 
aforementioned working parties.

ADVANCED THERAPIES

The Advanced Therapies Regulation (EC) 1394/2007 
became effective on 1 January 2009. The legislation in 
this area was further amended in September 2009 by 
Commission Directive 2009/120/EC. 

Applications for marketing authorisations for advanced 
therapy medicinal products (ATMPs) proceed via the 
EU centralised procedure as laid down in Regulation 
726/2004/EC. The Regulation provided for the 
establishment of a specialised Committee on Advanced 
Therapies within the EMA. The Committee has one 
member and one alternate member from each Member 
State with Ireland represented by the IMB. 

An internal IMB group was initially established to prepare 
for the implementation of the advanced therapies 
legislation. Having completed this phase, the group is now 
a forum for the exchange of information on ATMPs, tissue 
and blood, and biological products generally. The Senior 
Scientific Advisor, Dr. Mike Morris, continues to participate 

A CLASSIFICATION SERVICE IS OPERATED FOR PRODUCTS WHICH 
ARE ON THE BORDERLINE OF HUMAN MEDICINES AND OTHER 
PRODUCTS SUCH AS FOOD SUPPLEMENTS, COSMETICS AND 
MEDICAL DEVICES.
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NEW TECHNOLOGIES

The IMB supports the introduction of new technologies 
to improve efficiency and quality assurance in the 
manufacture of healthcare products under its remit.  
To this end, it has established a multidisciplinary in-house 
team to support the introduction of process analytical 
technologies and quality by design in the manufacture of 
medicinal products. This team consists of quality assessors 
and GMP inspectors and is chaired by the Senior Scientific 
Advisor. 

Nanotechnology is an exciting field with significant 
applications in the production and development  
of medicines, medical devices and cosmetics.  
As the regulatory authority, we are anxious to support 
innovations in this area which can result in improved 
quality of products. The Senior Scientific Advisor 
coordinates IMB participation at various network 
meetings and events related to nanotechnology.

Senior Scientific Advisor

THE IMB SUPPORTS THE INTRODUCTION OF NEW TECHNOLOGIES 
TO IMPROVE EFFICIENCY AND qUALITY ASSURANCE IN THE 
MANUFACTURE OF HEALTHCARE PRODUCTS UNDER ITS REMIT.
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also redesigned during 2010. Programmes for induction 
were expanded and coaching and training sessions were 
included to support the implementation of change 
programmes. In addition, a new software module was 
piloted with the goal of increasing the functionality of the 
HR database. The use of this software was extended across 
the organisation and it now provides a workflow system 
for the planning, approving, recording and reporting of 
training activities. 

Also during 2010, planning began for the introduction 
of a leadership development programme which will 
commence in 2011.

2010 Statistics

•	 The	overall	absence	rate	for	2010	was	2.1%	which	was	
a decrease on 2009 (2.8%). These rates are well below 
industry average rates of 3.5 – 4%. 

•	 The	age	and	gender	profile	of	staff	remained	
unchanged in 2010. The majority of staff members are 
between the ages of 20 to 40 with 75% female and 
25% male.

•	 The	organisation	continues	to	be	in	compliance	with	
the 3% target set by the Disability Act 2005.

•	 The	average	number	of	training	days	per	person	in	
2010 was 4.

•	 Programmes	of	further	education	were	supported	in	
respect of 7% of staff.

HUMAN RESOURCES 

Our people are critical to the successful delivery of our 
public health mission and we are committed to the 
effective management and development of all our staff. 

The IMB’s Human Resources department is focused on  
the delivery of the following key services: 

•	 Organisation	development

•	 Performance	management	and	coaching

•	 Learning	and	development	

•	 Employee	relations

•	 Recruitment	and	selection

Learning and Development

A significant area of activity in early 2010 was a 
comprehensive review of the learning and development 
needs of the organisation. This review resulted in 
the	design	and	approval	of	a	5-year	Learning	and	
Development Strategy which is being implemented 
in three phases. The first phase commenced in 2010 
and included the design, development and launch of 
IMBLearn.	A	learning	and	development	intranet,	 
IMBLearn	provides	easy	access	to	a	range	of	tools,	
information and learning supports in one central location. 
It also contributes to a culture of continuous development 
and encourages self-managed learning. 

Arising	from	the	new	Learning	and	Development	
Strategy, training programmes for new managers were 

It is essential that the IMB has in place the requisite corporate functions, systems and supports to ensure we deliver on 
our public health mission. We must be flexible and proactive as an organisation to respond to regulatory developments 
and to adopt necessary changes in how we deliver our services. We must also ensure that the highest levels of corporate 
governance are developed and maintained.

Organisational Management and Development



60  :  Irish Medicines Board

During the past 12 months, the IMB formally adopted a 
paperless licence submission process. This followed the 
completion of a large scale project to scan several million 
pages in late 2009. This process has greatly improved 
processing times for receiving and validating applications 
and further improvements are expected during 2011. 
In 2010, the volume of electronic submissions received 
by the IMB increasing from 25% to almost 80% with 
substantial benefits to the organisation.

The Information Technology and Change Management 
department also contributes significantly to the EU 
Telematics Programme, both at an operational and a 
strategic level. This programme covers all aspects of 
medicinal product licensing, safety and post-marketing 
activities. A broad range of systems are either available 
or in development to deliver improved services to the 
public, healthcare professionals and the pharmaceutical 
industry. Within the international regulatory framework, 
the IMB continues to receive a large number of requests 
for assistance and advice on the introduction of suitable 
technologies and processes in a regulatory context.  
Six organisations requested IMB advice in this regard 
during 2010.

In the past year, the IMB commenced work on the 
development of our new information technology strategy 
to run concurrently with our 2011 to 2015 strategic 
plan. The new strategy is required to take account of the 
increasing remit of the organisation, together with the 
growth in demand for information technology, business 
and change management skills. It is also essential that the 
IMB takes account of developments at an international 
level, particularly in terms of standardisation, and that we 
ensure compatibility with technologies mandated through 
EU legislation. 

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY AND CHANGE 
MANAGEMENT 

The Information Technology and Change Management 
department delivers specialist business analysis, 
information technology and telecommunications services 
throughout the organisation. Change management 
and business process improvement initiatives are also 
coordinated by the department, reflecting the IMB’s 
commitment to the agenda of transformation in the 
public sector.

Information Technology 

The IMB recognises that high quality information 
technology services are crucial to both the operational 
performance of the organisation and to the delivery of 
services to stakeholders. A broad range of applications 
are available to the public, healthcare professionals and 
industry. These services range from online reporting 
systems for potential safety and quality issues relating to 
medicines, medical devices, tissues and cells through to 
registration and licence application systems. In this regard, 
the use of IMB online systems increased overall by almost 
20% in 2010. 

Age and gender breakdown 2010
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Organisational Management and Development



 Annual Report 2010  :  61

have already been achieved. Further advantages include 
staff development and the ability to use similar process 
design concepts for other areas of the business.  
The successful delivery of this extensive project clearly 
demonstrates the IMB’s commitment to process 
improvement as well as the broader transformation 
programme within the public sector. 

CHIEF ExECUTIVE’S OFFICE

Quality and Risk Management

During 2010, we continued to implement our quality 
system. Key developments during the past 12 months 
include: 

•	 By	year	end,	79	%	of	the	total	expected	
implementation was in place. 

•	 A	management	review	of	the	system	was	completed	 
in March. 

•	 The	procedure	for	control	of	documents	was	
substantially revised and simplified during the year, 
based	on	the	outcome	of	a	Lean	Six	Sigma	review.	

•	 Sixteen	internal	quality	audits	were	conducted,	
of which 13 were conducted on licensing and 
authorisation processes, one on safety monitoring 
processes and two on compliance and enforcement 
processes. 

Also, during 2010 the risk register was reviewed by the 
Management Committee, the Audit Committee and the 
Board. Any necessary updates were made and actions 
were taken to mitigate risk.

Change Management

The IMB established an ambitious programme for 
improvement in 2010. This was in line with the 
organisation’s long held commitment to continuous 
improvement. The Information Technology and 
Change Management department takes the lead role 
in implementing programmes for change across the 
organisation. While efficiency is a key goal in such 
initiatives, improved flexibility and ability to respond  
to stakeholder needs are also key drivers for change.  
All process improvement initiatives take account of  
the organisation’s mission to protect and enhance  
public health.

New European legislation focussed on reducing the 
regulatory burden for stakeholders provided the basis  
for the 2010 process improvement programme.  
The	Lean	Six	Sigma	methodology	was	adopted	to	assist	
both in the identification of key regulatory components 
and the formulation of an overall improvement plan. 
Eight projects, each with its own clear objectives and 
deliverables, operated throughout the year. Staff from 
across the organisation took on various roles within the 
projects, while the Information and Technology Change 
Management Department managed the overall delivery 
of the programme. Despite a challenging work schedule 
and the substantial commitment required across all levels 
of the organisation, the staff involved embraced the 
opportunity and worked hard to achieve the established 
targets.

At the end of 2010, it was clearly demonstrated that the 
goals of enhanced service, changed work practice and 
associated savings had been successfully delivered.  
While some projects have medium to long-term goals, 
following the first 12 months clear benefits  

IN THE PAST YEAR, THE IMB COMMENCED WORk ON THE 
DEVELOPMENT OF OUR NEW INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY 
STRATEGY TO RUN CONCURRENTLY WITH OUR 2011 TO 2015 
STRATEGIC PLAN.



62  :  Irish Medicines Board

•	 regular	updates	to	our	website	www.imb.ie	including	
the publication of news, safety information and 
regulatory documents. In addition, the summary of 
product characteristics document for each human 
medicine licensed by the IMB is now also available  
to download. In response to stakeholder feedback,  
we began publishing a ‘track-change’ version of 
revisions to regulatory guides to assist our stakeholders 
in keeping up-to-date with changing requirements;

•	 participation	at	the	BT	Young	Scientist	&	Technology	
Exhibition in January 2010. Thousands of students 
as well as teachers, parents and members of the 
general public from all over Ireland attended the 
event. Our stand focused on building awareness of the 
development and safe use of medicines; 

•	 a	media	relations	programme	to	proactively	
communicate important safety messages and to 
build awareness of the role of the IMB. We issued 
31 press releases concerning safety and regulatory 
issues to ensure consumers, healthcare professional 
and other stakeholders received timely and accurate 
information and advice. In a number of instances, 
these communications resulted in interviews with 
an IMB spokesperson. In total, we responded to 437 
queries from national, local and specialist media during 
the year. 

Parliamentary Questions

During 2010, the IMB received and responded to  
34 parliamentary questions. There were 32 questions 
from our parent department, the Department of Health 
and Children, and one each from the Department of 
Agriculture, Fisheries and Food and the Department  
of Finance. 

Benchmarking of European Medicines Agencies

The BEMA programme provides assurance to the 
heads of the EU medicines agency network with 
respect to the quality of the systems and practices in 
place in national agencies. In addition, the programme 
provides a mechanism for the sharing of best practices. 
Throughout 2010, the IMB continued its participation in 
the programme’s steering group which reflected on the 
outcome of the second BEMA cycle and began to develop 
proposals for the various components of the third cycle. 
The IMB co-chairs the steering group and provides it with 
significant logistical, secretariat and technical support.

Communication and Information

A core strategic goal of the IMB is to expand and 
improve our communications activities to ensure that 
all our stakeholders have timely access to relevant 
safety and regulatory information. As a public body 
we are committed to open, transparent and two-way 
communications. The development of communications, 
information and education programmes will continue to 
be an area of focus over the coming years. 

Significant communications initiatives from 2010 include:

•	 the	production	of	a	range	of	consumer	information	
leaflets designed to provide clear independent 
advice on how best to purchase, store and safely use 
medicines. A consumer leaflet focused on generic 
medicines was also published;

•	 the	publication	of	consumer	research	findings	on	the	
sources of medicines information and the extent to 
which members of the public purchase medicines 
online. We also published research concerning the 
extent to which consumers are aware of generic 
medicines. All the results are available from our 
website; 

Organisational Management and Development

A CORE STRATEGIC GOAL OF THE IMB IS TO ExPAND AND 
IMPROVE OUR COMMUNICATIONS ACTIVITIES TO ENSURE THAT 
ALL OUR STAkEHOLDERS HAVE TIMELY ACCESS TO RELEVANT 
SAFETY AND REGULATORY INFORMATION. 
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•	 Good	Manufacturing	Practice	

•	 Veterinary	Pharmacovigilance	

The number of delegates attending these events ranged 
from 50 to 350.

Freedom of Information

The IMB is subject to the Freedom of Information Acts 
1997 and 2003. The Acts assert the right of members of 
the public to obtain access to official information to the 
greatest extent possible consistent with public interest 
and the right to privacy of individuals. During 2010, 
the IMB received 11 Freedom of Information requests 
consisting of nine non-personal requests and two 
personal requests. Three of these requests were appealed 
to the Information Commissioner. 

Board and Committees

Corporate Services provides secretarial support to the 
Board and Committees of the IMB and ensures adherence 
to best practice in the area of corporate governance.

•	 The	Board	of	the	IMB	met	nine	times	in	2010.	The	
number of meetings attended by each Board member 
is as follows:

Mr. Pat O’Mahony (Chairman)  7 

Ms. Ingrid Hook  5 

Mr. Pat Brangan  7

Mr.	Brendan	McLaughlin		 6

Prof. Brendan Buckley  6 

Ms. Cicely Roche  7

Mr. Wilfrid Higgins  8 

Ms. Maureen Windle  8 

Consultations

The IMB provided comments with respect to  
eight consultations from the EU Commission,  
the Pharmaceutical Society of Ireland, and the Health  
and Social Care Professionals Council at CORU. 

CORPORATE AFFAIRS

Corporate Affairs is responsible for the delivery of a 
number of key service areas to the organisation. These 
include building and accommodation management 
as well as the provision of reception, canteen, travel, 
library and event management services. The department 
also manages legal issues and Freedom of Information 
requests. In addition, it provides secretarial support to the 
IMB’s Board and Committees.

Event Management

The IMB held nine events in 2010 all of which were 
organised and managed in-house. This approach ensures 
cost effective delivery of events while also allowing IMB 
staff to deal directly with stakeholders. This has resulted 
in very positive feedback from attendees via event 
questionnaires. 

The nine events consisted of eight information days and 
one training day. The information days, which typically 
provide regulatory guidance and updates to interested 
parties, focused on the following topics:

•	 Human	Medicines	Variations

•	 Good	Clinical	Practice	

•	 In-vitro	Diagnostic	Medical	Devices

•	 Good	Distribution	Practice	

•	 Precursor	Chemicals

•	 Cosmetic	s
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•	 The	Herbal	Medicines	Committee,	a	subcommittee	to	
the Advisory Committee for Human Medicines, met 
twice in 2010. The Committee considered a number 
of matters including the Traditional Herbal Medicinal 
Products Registration Scheme and updates from the 
Committee on Herbal Medicinal Products of the EMA. 

•	 The	Clinical	Trials	Committee,	a	subcommittee	to	the	
Advisory Committee for Human Medicines, met 11 
times in 2010. The Committee considers the suitability 
of trials submitted for approval under the European 
Communities (Clinical Trials on Medicinal Products for 
Human Use) Regulations 2004, (S.I. No. 190 of 2004). 

FINANCE

It is the role of Finance department to manage and 
safeguard the finances of the IMB. It must ensure that the 
IMB fulfils its legislative requirements and applies best 
practice to the governance of its affairs. All procedures are 
carried out using standard operating procedures under the 
quality management system. 

The 2010 financial statements presented in this report 
were prepared by the Finance section and audited by the 
Comptroller and Auditor General. All financial transactions 
during the period under review are reflected and reported 
upon in these statements as is our commitment to the 
highest standards of corporate governance. 

OVERVIEW OF ENERGY USAGE IN 2010

With effect from 1 January 2011, the IMB, as a public 
sector body, is required to report annually on its energy 
usage and actions taken to reduce consumption in 
accordance with S.I. 542 of 2009. These regulations 
transpose the Energy End Use Efficiency and Energy 

 During 2010, the Board considered a number 
of strategic matters including corporate policy, 
planning and finance matters. The latter included 
monthly management accounts, annual budgets 
and the financial statements for 2009. The Board 
also reviewed update reports from the Statutory 
Advisory Committees, the Audit Committee and the 
Remuneration Committee. In addition, it reviewed 
the licences for all medicinal healthcare products as 
approved by the Management Committee.

•	 The	Audit	Committee,	a	subcommittee	to	the	
Board, met four times in 2010. The Remuneration 
Committee, also a Subcommittee to the Board,  
met once in 2010. Further details are provided in  
the financial statements.

•	 The	Advisory	Committee	for	Human	Medicines	assists	
and advises the Board in relation to any matters 
pertaining to the safety, quality or efficacy of medicinal 
products for human use as are referred to it by the 
Board. It also reviews the licenses for human medicinal 
products as approved by the Management Committee. 
The Committee met four times in 2010.

•	 The	Advisory	Committee	for	Veterinary	Medicines	
assists and advises the Board in relation to any 
matters pertaining to the safety, quality or efficacy of 
medicinal products for animal use as are referred to it 
by the Board. It also reviews the licenses for veterinary 
medicinal products as approved by the Management 
Committee. The committee met three times in 2010. 

•	 The	Advisory	Committee	for	Medical	Devices	met	
twice in 2010. It assists and advises the Board in 
relation to any matters pertaining to the safety, quality 
or efficacy of medical devices for human use as are 
referred to it by the Board. 

Organisational Management and Development
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Total Energy Savings

In total, these and other energy saving measures are 
saving the IMB 107 MWh annually.

Actions Planned for 2011

In 2011, the IMB intends to further improve energy 
performance by entering into framework agreements 
for the supply of both electricity and natural gas in 
2011. Both of these framework agreements are part of 
the agreements for Central Government and the Public 
Service held by National Procurement Service under the 
National Framework for Central Government supply 
requirements. It is not anticipated that there will be energy 
savings, but the cost savings will be in the region of 12% 
for electricity and 5% for gas. It is also important to note 
that the National Procurement Service contract rates are 
fixed until the end of 2011.

Services Directive (Directive 2006/32/EC) into Irish law. 

The IMB uses electricity for lighting, air conditioning as 
required and the provision of hot water. Natural gas is 
used for central heating. 

In 2010, the IMB consumed 769 MWh of energy, 
consisting of:

•	 563	MWh	of	electricity;	

•	 0	MWh	of	fossil	fuels;	

•	 206	MWh	of	renewable	fuels.

Actions Undertaken in 2010

In 2010, the IMB undertook a range of initiatives to 
improve our energy performance. These included an 
automatic shutdown of the air conditioning system used 
in the summer months at 17.00 every weekday evening 
which resulted in 30 MWh of annual savings.

Energy Saving Actions Prior to 2010

The IMB was among the first of the government 
organisations to move to lower cost energy suppliers  
for both electricity and gas at the start of 2009 resulting  
in cost and energy savings over 2008. Also in 2009,  
the IMB implemented an automatic shutdown of all 
PCs on a nightly basis, thus saving costs and energy in 
comparison with 2008. 

As a result of these initiatives, the savings in 2010 in 
electricity usage amounted to approximately 100 MWh 
in comparison to 2008. The savings in 2010 in gas usage 
amounted to 7 MWh approximately in comparison  
to 2009. 

THE IMB WAS AMONG THE FIRST OF THE GOVERNMENT 
ORGANISATIONS TO MOVE TO LOWER COST ENERGY SUPPLIERS 
FOR BOTH ELECTRICITY AND GAS RESULTING IN COST AND 
ENERGY SAVINGS.
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Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2010

Board Members and Other Information

Board Members 2010 : Mr. Pat O’Mahony (Chairman) 
Mr. Pat Brangan 
Prof. Brendan Buckley 
Mr. Wilfred Higgins 
Ms. Ingrid Hook 
Mr.	Brendan	McLaughlin 
Ms. Cicely Roche 
Ms. Maureen Windle

 The above Board was appointed by the Minister for Health & Children on  
1st January 2006 for a 5 year term. This term expired on 31st December 2010.

Board Members 2011 : Mr. Michael Hayes (Chairman) (until 31/12/2015) 
Prof. Brendan Buckley (until 31/12/2015) 
Ms. Ann Horan  (until 31/12/2015) 
Mr. Noel O’Donoghue (until 31/12/2015) 
Prof. Caitriona O’Driscoll (until 31/12/2015) 
Mr. Pat Brangan  (until 31/12/2013) 
Mr.	Brendan	McLaughlin	 (until	31/12/2013) 
Mr. Wilfred Higgins  (until 31/12/2013) 
Ms. Maureen Windle  (until 31/12/2013)

 The above Board was appointed by the Minister for Health & Children on  
18th January 2011 until the specified dates.

Bankers : Allied Irish Bank 
Lower	Baggot	Street,	Dublin	2

 Bank of Ireland Corporate 
Lower	Baggot	Street,	Dublin	2

Solicitors : Eugene F. Collins 
Temple Chambers, 3, Burlington Road, Dublin 4

Head Office : Kevin O’Malley House, Earlsfort Centre, Earlsfort Terrace, Dublin 2

Auditor : Comptroller and Auditor General 
Dublin Castle, Dublin 2 
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Corporate Governance

The Irish Medicines Board (the IMB) was established under the terms of the Irish Medicines Board Act, 1995, and is 
governed by a Board which was appointed by the Minister for Health & Children. The Board of the IMB (the Board)  
consists of a chairman and eight unremunerated non executive members.

The IMB is committed to the highest standards of Corporate Governance and has implemented the Department of Finance 
“Code of Practice for the Governance of State Bodies”. This Code of Practice, which was issued to the IMB in January 2002, 
incorporates many of the principles under which the IMB operates, taking account of the size and legal nature of the 
organisation. 

An updated Code of Practice was published by the Minister for Finance in June 2009, to take account of administrative  
and legislative developments in the corporate governance framework since 2001. The IMB has carried out a detailed  
review of this updated Code, to ensure that its provisions are still reflected in the principles under which the IMB operates.

The IMB has in place an extensive Code of Conduct and conflicts of interest policy for all staff, committees and Board 
members. The IMB applies the highest standards of disclosure and transparency in respect of interests held by staff, 
committees and Board members.

Audit Committee

The IMB has an audit committee comprising two Board members, which met on 4 occasions during 2010. This committee 
is responsible for reviewing internal control matters, together with any other issues raised by the external auditors, the 
Board or management. The external auditor meets annually with the audit committee to brief them on the outcome of 
the external audit. In 2010 the IMB re-appointed Crowleys DFK as internal auditor to the Board under a three-year contract. 
During 2010 the internal auditors reviewed the areas of payroll, HR and travel & subsistence and reported their findings 
to the audit committee. The audit committee has also been involved with the review of the quality systems as described 
below.

Quality Systems

During 2010, the finance section of the IMB continued the process of implementing and reviewing standard operating 
procedures (SOPs) under the quality management system. This process involved a critical review and analysis of internal 
controls and processes throughout the section with particular emphasis on risk management. This system now underpins 
the internal control environment and feeds into the internal audit process and ultimately into the audit committee.

Remuneration Policy - Board Members and Executive Directors

Remuneration and travel expenses paid to Board members are disclosed in note 17 to the financial statements.  
The Chairman receives remuneration as directed by the Minister for Health and Children in accordance with the Irish 
Medicines Board Act, 1995. Other Board members receive travel expenses in accordance with circulars issued by the 
Department of Health and Children. The Chief Executive is remunerated in accordance with guidelines issued from 
Government and other Executive Directors are paid in accordance with Department of Health and Children pay scales. 

Remuneration Committee

The IMB has established a remuneration committee as a sub-committee of the Board to review the remuneration of the 
Chief Executive, in accordance with guidelines issued by the Department of Finance and the Department of Health and 
Children. The Chief Executive’s remuneration is disclosed in note 18 to the Financial Statements.

Internal Control

The Board is responsible for the IMB’s systems of internal control. Such systems can only provide reasonable and not 
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. The systems of internal controls in use in the IMB are described 
more fully in the Chairman’s report on page 68.
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Report of the Chairman of the Irish Medicines Board

regarding the assessment of internal financial controls of a State body for the year ended 31st December 2010

1. I, as Chairman, acknowledge that the Board is responsible for the body’s system of internal financial control.

2. The IMB system of internal control can provide only reasonable and not absolute assurance against material error, 
misstatement or loss.

3. The Board confirms that there is an ongoing process for identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risks  
faced by the IMB. This process is regularly reviewed by the Board via the report of the Chief Executive.

Management are responsible for the identification and evaluation of significant risks applicable to their areas of 
business together with the design and operation of suitable internal controls. These risks are assessed on a continuing 
basis and may be associated with a variety of internal or external sources including control breakdowns, disruption in 
information systems, natural catastrophe and regulatory requirements.

Management reports fortnightly on operational issues and risks and how they are managed to the Management 
Committee. The Management Committee’s role in this regard is to review on behalf of the Board the key risks inherent 
in the affairs of the IMB and the system of actions necessary to manage such risks and to present their findings on 
significant matters via the Chief Executive to the Board.

The Chief Executive reports to the Board on behalf of the executive management on significant changes in the work 
of the IMB and on the external environment, which affects significant risks. The Director of Finance and Corporate 
Affairs provides the Board with monthly financial information, which includes key performance indicators. Where areas 
for improvement in the system are identified, the Board considers the recommendations made by the Management 
Committee.

An appropriate control framework is in place with clearly defined matters which are reserved for Board approval  
only or, as delegated by the Board, for appropriate Management Committee approval. The Board has delegated the  
day-to-day management of the IMB and established appropriate limits for expenditure authorisation to the 
Management Committee. The Chief Executive is responsible for implementation of internal controls, including  
internal financial control.

The system of internal financial control is monitored in general by the processes outlined above. In addition,  
the Audit Committee of the Board reviews specific areas of internal control as part of their terms of reference.

4. The Audit Committee of the Board has satisfactorily reviewed the effectiveness of the system of internal control  
on behalf of the Board. The Audit Committee of the Board carried out a formal review of these systems in respect of 
2010 at its meeting on 23rd June 2011. The internal control work carried out by the Audit Committee was reviewed  
and approved by the Board at its meeting on 23rd June 2011.

Michael Hayes 

Chairman
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The Board is required by the Irish Medicines Board Act, 1995 to prepare financial statements for each financial year which 
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the IMB and of its surplus or deficit for that period.

In preparing those statements the Board is required to:

•	 select	suitable	accounting	policies	and	apply	them	consistently

•	 make	judgements	and	estimates	that	are	reasonable	and	prudent

•	 disclose	and	explain	any	material	departures	from	applicable	accounting	standards,	and

•	 prepare	the	financial	statements	on	a	going	concern	basis	unless	it	is	inappropriate	to	presume	that	the	IMB	will	
continue in existence.

The Board is responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the 
financial position of the IMB and which enable it to ensure that the financial statements comply with the IMB Act and with 
accounting standards generally accepted in Ireland. It is also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the IMB and hence 
for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

On behalf of the Board

Michael Hayes  Maureen Windle

Chairman Board Member

Statement of Board Members’ Responsibilities
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I have audited the financial statements of the Irish Medicines Board for the year ended 31 December 2010 under the Irish 
Medicines Board Act, 1995.

The financial statements, which have been prepared under the accounting policies set out therein, comprise the Accounting 
Policies, the Statement of Income and Expenditure, the Balance Sheet, the Cash Flow Statement and the related notes.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice in Ireland as modified by the directions of the Minister for Health in relation to accounting for 
superannuation costs.

Responsibilities of the Board

The Board is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements, for ensuring that they give a true and fair view  
of the state of the Board’s affairs and of its income and expenditure, and for ensuring the regularity of transactions.

Responsibilities of the Comptroller and Auditor General 

My responsibility is to audit the financial statements and report on them in accordance with applicable law.

My audit is conducted by reference to the special considerations which attach to State bodies in relation to their 
management and operation.

My audit is carried out in accordance with the International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) and in compliance with 
the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.

Scope of Audit of the Financial Statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, sufficient to give 
reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. 
This includes an assessment of

•	 whether	the	accounting	policies	are	appropriate	to	the	Irish	Medicines	Board’s	circumstances,	and	have	been	
consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

•	 the	reasonableness	of	significant	accounting	estimates	made	in	the	preparation	of	the	financial	statements,	and

•	 the	overall	presentation	of	the	financial	statements.

I also seek to obtain evidence about the regularity of financial transactions in the course of audit.

In addition, I read all the financial and non-financial information in the annual report to identify material inconsistencies 
with the audited financial statements. If I become aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies  
I consider the implications for my report.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

In compliance with the directions of the Minister for Health, the Board recognises the costs of superannuation entitlements 
only as they become payable. This basis of accounting does not comply with Financial Reporting Standard 17 which requires 
such costs to be recognised in the year the entitlements are earned. 

Except for the non-recognition of the Board’s superannuation costs and liabilities in accordance with Financial Reporting 
Standard 17, the financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Practice in 
Ireland, of the state of the Board’s affairs at 31 December 2010 and of its income and expenditure for the year then ended.

In my opinion, proper books of account have been kept by the Board. The financial statements are in agreement with the 
books of account.

Report of the Comptroller and Auditor General

for presentation to the Houses of the Oireachtas
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Matters on which I Report by Exception

I report by exception if

•	 I	have	not	received	all	the	information	and	explanations	I	required	for	my	audit,	or

•	 my	audit	noted	any	material	instance	where	moneys	have	not	been	applied	for	the	purposes	intended	or	where	the	
transactions did not conform to the authorities governing them, or

•	 the	information	given	in	the	Board’s	Annual	Report	for	the	year	for	which	the	financial	statements	are	prepared	is	not	
consistent with the financial statements, or

•	 the	Statement	on	Internal	Financial	Control	does	not	reflect	the	Board’s	compliance	with	the	Code	of	Practice	for	the	
Governance of State Bodies, or

•	 I	find	there	are	other	material	matters	relating	to	the	manner	in	which	public	business	has	been	conducted.

I have nothing to report in regard to those matters upon which reporting is by exception.

Andrew Harkness 

For	and	on	behalf	of	the	Comptroller	and	Auditor	General	  
28 July 2011
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Historical Cost Convention

The Financial Statements are prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles under the historical cost 
convention and comply with the financial reporting standards of the Accounting Standards Board, with the exception of 
superannuation – see note below.

Income Recognition

Income is recognised in the financial statements on the following basis:

•	 In	the	case	of	applications	for	marketing	authorisations	(new	applications,	variations	to	existing	authorisations,	 
or transfers) and clinical trial applications, income is recognised in the financial statements when a valid application 
form is received. 

•	 In	the	case	of	wholesale	and	manufacturing	licences	and	maintenance	of	marketing	authorisations,	fees	are	payable	
annually and a full year’s income is accrued in each financial year.

Expenditure Recognition

Expenditure is recognised in the financial statements on an accruals basis as it is incurred.

Reporting Currency and Currency Translation

The financial statements are prepared in euros.

Transactions in currencies other than euro are recorded at the rates ruling at the date of the transactions or at a contracted 
date. Monetary assets and liabilities are translated into euro at the balance sheet date or at a contracted date. Exchange 
differences are dealt with in the income and expenditure account. 

Tangible Assets

Tangible Assets excluding Premises

Tangible assets excluding premises are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is calculated in order 
to write off the cost of tangible assets to their estimated residual values over their estimated useful lives by equal annual 
instalments.

The estimated useful lives of tangible assets by reference to which depreciation has been calculated are as follows:

Fixtures and Fittings :  5 years

Computer Equipment :  3 years

Improvements to Premises : 10 years

Premises

The IMB purchased its premises at Kevin O’Malley House, Earlsfort Centre, Earlsfort Terrace, Dublin 2 on 22 December 2004. 
The value capitalised was equal to the purchase price plus those costs directly attributable to bringing the asset into use.

No depreciation has been calculated on the value of premises, as the remaining useful economic life is estimated to be 
greater than 50 years.

Taxation

The IMB is exempt from liability to Corporation Tax under Section 32 of the Finance Act, 1994.

Accounting Policies
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Debtors

Known bad debts are written off and specific provision is made for any amount the collection of which is considered 
doubtful. 

Superannuation

The	superannuation	scheme	operated	by	the	IMB	is	in	accordance	with	the	Local	Government	(Superannuation	Revision)	
(Consolidation) Scheme, 1986. It is an unfunded statutory scheme and benefits are met from current income as they arise.

The charge to salaries and wages is stated gross of superannuation deductions of €641,249 (2009 - €629,478). The 
surplus for the year on page 74 is then shown both before and after superannuation transactions for the year. The income 
and expenditure reserve on the balance sheet is split between retained reserves and superannuation reserves in note 11.

By direction of the Minister for Health & Children, the provisions of FRS 17 are not being complied with. 

Provisions

A provision is recognised when the IMB has a present obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that this will be 
settled at a cost to the IMB and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

Library

No value has been placed on the books, audio-visual resources and electronic databases in the library. Expenditure on these 
items is written off in the year in which it is incurred.

Leases

All leases are treated as operating leases and the rentals thereunder are charged to the Income and Expenditure account on 
a straight line basis over the lease period. 
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Statement of Income and Expenditure

  Note 2010 2009 
   € €

Fee Income  2  21,901,934   21,453,656 

Other Income 3  2,043,111   4,713,275 

    23,945,045   26,166,931 

Salaries and Wages 4  15,652,918   15,869,204 

Other Operating Costs 5  5,532,894   5,489,743 

Depreciation 1  1,446,488   1,502,168

    22,632,300   22,861,115 

Surplus for the year before write  

back of Superannuation contributions   1,312,745   3,305,816 

Staff Superannuation Contributions   641,249   629,478 

Surplus for the year   1,953,994   3,935,294 

Balance brought forward   18,422,424   14,487,130 

Balance carried forward   20,376,418   18,422,424

All income and the surplus for the year arises from continuing activities.   

 

Michael Hayes  Maureen Windle

Chairman Board Member

The accounting policies on pages 72 to 73 and the notes on pages 77 to 83 form part of the financial statements.

For the year ended 31 December 2010
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Balance Sheet

  Note 2010 2009 
   € €

Tangible Assets 1  23,753,247   24,194,544 

Current Assets

Debtors and Prepayments 6  1,530,265   2,082,648 

Stock of Stationery   2,366   2,559 

Cash at Bank and in Hand 12  24,260   308,056 

Short Term Deposits   12,518,096   10,127,002 

    14,074,987   12,520,265 

Creditors - Amounts falling due within one year

Creditors and Accruals 7  6,345,148   6,392,385 

Mortgage 13  793,332   793,332 

    7,138,480   7,185,717 

Net Current Assets   6,936,507   5,334,548 

Long Term Liabilities

Mortgage 13  10,313,336   11,106,668 

TOTAL NET ASSETS   20,376,418   18,422,424 

Financed by   

Income and Expenditure Reserve 11  20,376,418   18,422,424 

    20,376,418   18,422,424 

 

Michael Hayes  Maureen Windle

Chairman Board Member

The accounting policies on pages 72 to 73 and the notes on pages 77 to 83 form part of the financial statements.

As at 31 December 2010
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  Note 2010 2009 
   € €

Reconciliation of surplus to net cash inflow from operating activities

Surplus for Year  1,953,994 3,935,294

Depreciation Charge  1,446,488 1,502,168

(Increase)/Decrease in Debtors  552,383 (418,200)

(Increase)/Decrease in Stocks  193 892

Increase/(Decrease) in Creditors - amounts falling due within one year  (47,237) 904,459

Deposit Interest   (149,692) (91,596)

Bank Interest and Charges  492,254 512,075

Loss/(Gain)	on	Disposal	of	Fixed	Assets	 	 198 1,694

Net Cash Inflow from Operating Activities  4,248,581 6,346,786

Cash Flow Statement

Net Cash Inflow from Operating Activities  4,248,581 6,346,786

Return on Investments and   

Servicing of Finance 8 (342,562) (420,479)

Capital Expenditure 8 (1,005,389) (1,013,901)

Management	of	Liquid	Resources	 8	 (2,391,094) (4,269,719)

Financing 8 (793,332) (793,332)

Increase/(Decrease) in Cash   (283,796) (150,645)

Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net debt

Increase/(Decrease) In Cash  (283,796) (150,645)

Increase/(Decrease) In Short Term Deposits  2,391,094 4,269,719

(Increase)/Decrease	In	Long	Term	Finance	 	 793,332 793,332

Change In Net Funds/(Debt)  2,900,630 4,912,406

Net Debt at start of year  (1,464,942) (6,377,348)

Net Funds/(Debt) at end of year 9 1,435,688 (1,464,942)

The accounting policies on pages 72 to 73 and the notes on pages 77 to 83 form part of the financial statements.

Cash Flow Statement

For the year ended 31 December 2010
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1 TANGIBLE ASSETS 
  Fixtures and Computer  Leasehold  Improvements 
  Fittings Equipment Improvements To Premises Premises Total 
  € € € € € €

 Cost

 Balance as at 1 January 2010  918,116   7,579,888   502,445   3,302,408   20,383,000  32,685,857

 Additions for the year  45,605   721,631  –   239,078  – 1,006,314

 Disposals for the year (33,412) (15,222) –  –  –  (48,634)

 As at 31 December 2010  930,309   8,286,297   502,445   3,541,486   20,383,000  33,643,537

 Depreciation

 Balance as at 1 January 2010  576,910   6,613,403   249,968   1,051,032  –  8,491,313

 Charge for the year  149,680   892,414   50,245   354,149  –  1,446,488

 Disposals for the year (32,430) (15,081) – –  –  (47,511)

 As at 31 December 2010  694,160   7,490,736   300,213   1,405,181  – 9,890,290

 Net Book value  
 at 31 December 2010  236,149   795,561   202,232   2,136,305   20,383,000  23,753,247

 Net Book value  
 at 1 January 2010  341,206   966,485   252,477   2,251,376   20,383,000  24,194,544

2 INCOME
   2010 2009 
   € €

Fee Income

Clinical Trials   120,743   140,211 

Human Medicine - National Fees   8,839,533   7,857,555 

Human Medicine - European Fees   6,166,008  7,857,155 

Veterinary Medicine - National Fees  1,098,288   1,137,328 

Veterinary Medicine - European Fees   1,391,667  966,288 

Compliance Department   4,068,806   3,292,018 

 Medical Devices   216,889   203,101 

   21,901,934   21,453,656 

 Other Income (Note 3)   2,043,111   4,713,275 

 Total Income   23,945,045   26,166,931

 
Certain fees, totalling €12,965,484, are required by law to be disposed of in accordance with the directions of the 
Minister for Finance.

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2010
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

3 OTHER INCOME
   2010 2009 
   € €

Dept Of Health & Children Funding   1,750,508   4,602,032 

IT Income   5,000   5,000 

Conference Fee Income   138,109   15,800 

Deposit Interest   149,692   91,596 

(Loss)/Gain	on	Disposal	of	Fixed	Assets	 	 (198) (1,694)

 Miscellaneous  –  541 

    2,043,111  4,713,275

4 SALARIES AND WAGES 
   2010 2009 
   € €

Salaries and Wages   14,425,188   14,590,623 

 Social Welfare Costs   1,227,730   1,278,581 

    15,652,918   15,869,204 

 
The average number of staff employed during the year was 282 (2009 - 270). Staff employed at 31 December 2010 can 
be analysed across the following departments :

   2010 2009

Medical Technical   22   22 

Pharmaceutical Technical   32   30 

Veterinary Technical   15   16 

Compliance Technical   22   19 

Medical Devices Technical   21   16 

Enforcement Technical   8   8 

Blood Directive Technical   4   4 

Controlled Drugs Technical   4   3 

Tissues and Cells Technical   2   2 

Chief Executive and Corporate   35   31 

Operational Staff   102   105 

 Pensioners   16   13

    283   269 

 
Pension related deductions for Public Servants of €935,780 were deducted from staff during the year and paid over to 
the Department of Health & Children.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

5 OPERATING COSTS
   2010 2009 
   € €

Accommodation Costs   1,104,086   1,009,815 

Travel, Representation and Training   808,855   829,890 

Bank Charges and Interest   492,254   512,075 

Legal	&	Professional	Fees	   514,964   979,322 

Stationery, Publications and Postage   536,715   389,291 

 Other Operating Costs   2,076,020   1,769,350 

    5,532,894   5,489,743

 
Payroll cuts in the IMB ranged from 6% to 10% in 2010 (average 6.9%). Exchequer funding was reduced by 62%. 
Included in total costs of €22,632,300 is an amount of €4,004 related to hospitality provided to staff.

6 DEBTORS (ALL DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR)
   2010 2009 
   € €

Trade Debtors   896,769   1,386,893 

Prepayments   375,872   388,605 

 Other Debtors   257,624   307,150 

    1,530,265   2,082,648

7 CREDITORS (AMOUNTS FALLING DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR)
   2010 2009 
   € €

Trade Creditors   629,102   997,509 

Accruals   5,222,976   4,917,858 

 Revenue Commissioners   493,070   477,018 

    6,345,148   6,392,385
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

8 GROSS CASH FLOWS
   2010 2009 
   € €

Returns on Investment and Servicing of Finance:

Deposit Interest   149,692   91,596 

 Bank Interest and Charges  (492,254) (512,075)

   (342,562) (420,479)

Capital Expenditure

Payments to acquire Tangible Fixed Assets  (1,006,314) (1,013,901)

 Receipts from sales of Tangible Fixed Assets  925 – 

   (1,005,389) (1,013,901)

Management of Liquid Resources 

 (Increase)/Decrease in Short Term Deposits  (2,391,094) (4,269,719)

   (2,391,094) (4,269,719)

Financing

	 Increase/(Decrease)	in	Long	Term	Finance	  (793,332) (793,332)

   (793,332) (793,332)

9 ANALYSIS OF CHANGES IN NET FUNDS/(DEBT)  
  As at  As at 
  01/01/2010 Cashflow 31/12/2010

Cash at Bank and in Hand   308,056  (283,796)  24,260 

Short Term Deposits  10,127,002  2,391,094  12,518,096 

Debt Due Within One Year (793,332) 0 (793,332)

 Debt Due After One Year (11,106,668)  793,332  (10,313,336)

  (1,464,942)  2,900,630  1,435,688

10 ADMINISTRATION ExPENSES
   2010 2009 
   € €

Surplus for the year was calculated having charged : 

 Auditor’s Remuneration   17,390   17,390
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

11 INCOME AND ExPENDITURE RESERVES

The Income and Expenditure Reserve disclosed in the Balance Sheet on page 75 comprises the following :

   2010 2009 
   € €

Retained Reserves   15,280,032   13,967,287 

 Staff Superannuation Contributions   5,096,386   4,455,137 

    20,376,418   18,422,424

12 CASH AND BANk BALANCES
   2010 2009 
   € €

Current Account Balances   23,279   306,548 

 Cash on Hand   981   1,508 

    24,260   308,056

13 LONG TERM LIABILITIES

 Mortgage

On 22 December 2004 the Board purchased its premises at Kevin O’Malley House, Earlsfort Centre, Earlsfort Terrace, 
Dublin 2. The purchase was financed by way of a mortgage, secured on the premises, of €20,400,000 over 20 years 
from	Bank	of	Ireland	Corporate	Lending.

The Irish Medicines Board is committed to making the following capital repayments on its mortgage :

   2010 2009 
   € €

Within one year   793,332   793,332 

Between one and five years   3,173,328   3,173,328 

 After five years   7,140,008   7,933,340 

    11,106,668   11,900,000

14 INTEREST RATE ExPOSURE

The IMB have taken all necessary steps to minimise its interest rate exposure by fixing 2/3s of the borrowings for a 
period of 10 years. The balance of the borrowings are fully offset by cash reserves. For 2011 it is estimated that the net 
borrowings for which an interest rate exposure may arise is €0.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

15 FINANCIAL COMMITMENTS
   2010 2009 
   € €

Operating Leases

Amounts payable during the next twelve months in respect of leases which expire

- within one year  –  – 

-	between	one	and	five	years	(in	respect	of	Longphort	House)	 	  167,056   69,031 

 - after five years (in respect of Alexandra House)   285,984   285,984 

    453,040   355,015

 
Included in Accommodation Costs (Note 5) is expenditure of €369,512 under operating leases. 

On 22 December 2004 the IMB signed a leasehold interest in respect of the 5th floor, Alexandra House, Earlsfort 
Centre, Dublin 2. At 31 December 2010 this lease had 11 years remaining. On 1 June 2010 the IMB signed a leasehold 
interest	in	respect	of	the	3rd	floor,	Longphort	House,	Earlsfort	Centre,	Dublin	2.	At	31	December	2010	this	lease	had	 
4 years and 3 months remaining.

16 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
   2010 2009 
   € €

Contracted For (Contract Signed)   212,000   385,000 

 Not Contracted For   4,355,000   250,000 

    4,567,000   635,000 

17 BOARD REMUNERATION 
   2010 2009 
   € €

Chairman’s Salary   22,305   23,478 

 Board Members’ Travel Expenses   5,537   7,798 

    27,842   31,276
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

18 STAFF REMUNERATION
   2010 2009 
   € €

Chief Executive’s Remuneration

Basic Salary   174,913   159,544 

 Performance Related Payment  –  22,255 

    174,913   181,799

 
The Chief Executive’s pension entitlements do not extend beyond the standard entitlements in the model public sector 
defined benefit superannuation scheme.

19 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

There have been no transactions with related parties which require disclosure under Financial Reporting Standard 8.

20 PROMPT PAYMENT OF ACCOUNTS
The IMB confirms that it is complying with EU law in relation to prompt payments of account.

21 ExCHANGE RATES

The exchange rates used in preparing these financial statements were as follows : 

2010 €1 = STG £0.8568

2009 €1 = STG £0.8881

22 PROVISIONS

The Board has been notified of a number of legal proceedings or potential proceedings. The information usually 
required by FRS 12 Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets is not disclosed as the Board believes that 
to do so would be prejudicial to the outcome. In 2009 the Board was the unsuccessful defendant in a Supreme Court 
appeal, the issue of costs and damages have been referred back to the High Court. The Board is satisfied that they have 
made adequate provision against any award.

23 GOING CONCERN

The Board has a reasonable expectation, at the time of approving the financial statements, that the IMB has adequate 
resources to continue its operations. For this reason, the Board continues to adopt the going concern basis in preparing 
the financial statements.

24 APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved by the Board on 23 June 2011.
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Management Committee

Mr. Patrick O’Mahony – Chief Executive

Dr. J. Gabriel Beechinor – Director of Veterinary Medicines

Dr. Joan Gilvarry – Director of Human Products Monitoring 

Ms.	Frances	Lynch	–	Director	of	Human	Resources

Mr.	John	Lynch	–	Director	of	Compliance

Ms. Suzanne McDonald – Director of Information 
Technology and Change Management

Dr. Mike Morris – Senior Scientific Advisor

Ms. Ann O’Connor – Director of Human Products 
Authorisation and Registration 

Ms. Rita Purcell – Director of Finance and Corporate Affairs

Board

Mr Pat O’Mahony – Chairman

Prof. Brendan Buckley

Mr. Pat Brangan

Mr. Wilfrid J. Higgins

Ms. Ingrid Hook

Mr.	Brendan	McLaughlin

Ms. Cicely Roche

Ms. Maureen Windle

Audit Committee

Ms. Maureen Windle – Chairman

Mr. Pat Brangan

Advisory Committee for Human Medicines

Prof. Brendan Buckley – Chairman
Dr. Paul Browne
Ms. Eugenie Canavan
Dr. Kevin Connolly
Dr. Des Corrigan
Prof. Mary Horgan
Dr. David Kerins
Ms. Marita Kinsella
Mr. Tom McGuinn
Dr. Bernard Silke 
Dr. Patrick A. Sullivan

Advisory Committee for Veterinary Medicines 

Mr. Pat Brangan – Chairman
Mr. Tom Barragry
Dr. Ruaidhri Breathnach
Ms. Eugenie Canavan
Mr. Michael Clancy
Prof. Ann Cullinane
Mr. Tom McGuinn
Mr. Raymond Muldoon
Dr. Hamish Rodger
Dr. Donal Sammin

Advisory Committee for Medical Devices

Mr. Wilfrid J. Higgins – Chairman
Dr. Geoff Chadwick
Ms. Maureen D’Arcy
Ms. Aideen Drury-Byrne
Dr. John Keogh
Prof. Robert McConnell
Dr. Brendan McCormack
Dr. Tim McGloughlin
Dr. John O’Mullane
Ms. Maebh Smith
Prof. Wil van der Putten

Appendix 1 : Committee Members



 Annual Report 2010  :  85

Experts Sub-Committee of the Advisory Committee 
for Human Medicines

Prof. Mary Horgan – Chairman

Prof. Brendan Buckley

Dr. Colin Buckley

Dr. Owen Carey

Dr. Kevin Connolly

Dr. Noreen Dowd

Dr. Stephen Eustace

Prof. Michael Fitzgerald

Dr. Stephen Flint

Dr. Tim Fulcher

Dr. Joseph Galvin

Dr. Patrick Gavin

Dr. Kevin Kelleher

Dr. Mary Keogan

Prof. David Kerins

Dr.	Lorraine	Kyne

Dr.	Mark	Ledwidge

Dr. John McCaffrey

Dr. Patricia McCormack

Prof. Aidan McCormick

Dr. Frank Murray

Dr. Yvonne O’Meara

Mr. Ashley Poynton

Dr. Brion Sweeney

Dr. Jogin Thakore

Dr. Douglas Veale

Clinical Trial Sub-Committee of Advisory Committee 
for Human Medicines

Dr. Patrick A. Sullivan – Chairman

Prof. David Bouchier-Hayes

Dr. Paul Browne

Dr. Brian Cantwell

Dr. Peter A. Daly

Prof. Ted Dinan

Prof.	Sidney	Lowry

Dr. Tom Pierce

Dr. John Taaffe

Advisory Sub-Committee for Herbal Medicines

Dr. Des Corrigan – Chairman

Dr. Fiona Barry

Dr. Kevin Connolly

Ms. Nicola Darrell

Ms. Ingrid Hook

Ms. Claudine Hughes

Ms. Helen McCormack

Dr. Hugh McGlynn

Dr. Diarmaid O’Connell

Dr. Donal O’Mathuna

Dr. Camillus Power

Dr. Helen Sheridan

Appendix 1 : Committee Members (continued)
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ACMD  Advisory Committee for Medical 
Devices

ADR Adverse Reaction (side effect)

AIMD Active Implantable Medical Device

ATMP  Advanced Therapy Medicinal Products

BEMA Benchmarking of European Medicines 
Agencies

CAMD Competent Authority for Medical 
Devices

CAT Committee for Advanced Therapies

CHMP  Committee for Medicinal Products for 
Human Use

CMD(h)  Co-ordination Group for Mutual 
Recognition and Decentralised 
Procedures – Human 

CMD(v)  Co-ordination Group for Mutual 
Recognition and Decentralised 
Procedures – Veterinary 

CMS Concerned Member State

COMP  Committee for Orphan Medicinal 
Products

CVMP  Committee for Medicinal Products for 
Veterinary Use 

DCP  Decentralised Procedure

DHPC  Direct Healthcare Professional 
Communications

DPR  Dual Pack Import Registration

EEA  European Economic Area

EMA  European Medicines Agency

EU  European Union

EUDAMED European Databank on Medical Devices

EUSTITE  EU Project for Standards and 
Training for the Inspections of Tissue 
Establishments

FDA  Food and Drug Administration

GCP  Good Clinical Practice

GDP  Good Distribution Practice

GHTF Global Harmonization Task Force

GMD General Medical Devices

GMP  Good Manufacturing Procedure

H1N1  2009 Flu Pandemic

HMA Heads of Medicines Agencies

HMPC  Committee on Herbal Medicinal 
Products

HPV Human Papillomavirus

HR Human Resources

HSE  Health Service Executive

ICSR  Individual Case Safety Report

IFAH International Federation for Animal 
Health

IMB  Irish Medicines Board

IMDA  Irish Medical Devices Association

IVD  In-Vitro Diagnostic

MA Marketing Authorisation

MAH  Marketing Authorisation Holder

MDEG  Medical Devices Expert Group

MEDDEV  Medical Devices Guidance Document 
from the European Commission

MIMS  Monthly Index of Medical Specialities

MRP  Mutual Recognition Procedure

MS Member State

MWh Megawatt hour

NBOG  Notified Body Operations Group

NCAR  National Competent Authority report

NHO  National Haemovigilance Office

NIR  Near-Infrared Spectroscopy

NSAI  National Standards Authority of Ireland

OMCL  Official Medicines Control Laboratories

PA  Product Authorisation

PhV  Pharmacovigilance

PhVWP  Pharmacovigilance Working Party

PPA  Parallel Product Authorisation

Appendix 2 : Glossary 
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PSUR  Periodic Safety Update Report

RCSI Royal College of Surgeons in Ireland

RMP Risk Management Plan

RMS Reference Member State

SmPC  Summary of Product Characteristics

SOP Standard Operating Procedure

SUSAR Suspected Unexpected Serious Adverse 
Reaction

TSE Transmissible Spongiform 
Encephalopathy

UMC  Uppsala Monitoring Centre

UK United kingdom

UMC Uppsala Monitoring Centre

vCJD  Variant Creutzfeldt-jakob Disease

VPA  Veterinary Product Authorisation

WHO  World Health Organization

Appendix	2	:	Glossary
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Notes
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